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I am particularly pleased to preface the special 
edition of our tourist guide that presents the entire region of 
Evrytania through 12 journeys into nature and tradition that 
can be taken throughout the year. 

Evrytania, a dynamic tourist area, with important 
infrastructure, is located in the mountains of Central Greece. 
The number and quality of its infrastructure, whether it is 
luxury hotels, friendly traditional guesthouses or food and 
entertainment venues, can satisfy even the most discerning 
visitors. 

The tourist infrastructure of the area in conjunction 
with a particularly beautiful natural environment have 
ranked it among the most important destinations of our 
country. Sports tourism, conference tourism, nature tourism, 
religious tourism and in general alternative forms of tourism 
along with winter tourism are all very important for the 
region. 

First of all, it has one of the most historic and largest 
ski resorts in Greece. The Ski Center of Velouhi is located at 
an altitude of 1840 meters and is only 12 km from the town 
of Karpenisi. It was established in 1974 and since then it is 
constantly improving. Apart from Skiing, all mountain sports 
(Adventure Trekking, River Trekking, Kayak, Rafting, Canoe-
Kayak, Canyoning, Jeep safari and horseback riding) are also 
widely enjoyed by visitors. 

Karpenisi is also home to the largest sports center 
in Greece that can host a number of sporting events. The 
national football and basketball teams, track and field 
champions, and Olympians are just a few of those who 
used its sports facilities to complete their preparation. 
An important sports infrastructure for the area is also the 
modern swimming pool located in downtown Karpenisi.

Evrytania:
The Heart of  
alternative tourism  
in the Heart of  
Greece!!!
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 Επιπλέον το αρτιότερο Συνεδριακό Κέντρο της Περι-
φέρειας Στερεάς Ελλάδας, βρίσκεται στο Καρπενήσι. Εξοπλι-
σμένο με την τελευταία λέξη της τεχνολογίας και χτισμένο 
με τις πιο σύγχρονες προδιαγραφές μπορεί να εξυπηρετήσει 
μέχρι και 600 συνέδρους. Επιπρόσθετα, με τις αίθουσες συ-
νεδρίων που διαθέτουν οι μεγάλες ξενοδοχειακές μονάδες 
της πόλης, αποτελεί ιδανική λύση για όσους θέλουν να συν-
δυάσουν τη γνώση, την εργασία και τη διασκέδαση με τις 
διακοπές τους. 
 Από τα μεγαλύτερα όμως συγκριτικά πλεονεκτήμα-
τα της περιοχής είναι η πλούσια κληρονομιά της, τόσο στο 
πολιτιστικό, το ιστορικό όσο και στο θρησκευτικό τομέα. 
Από άκρη σε άκρη σε όλη την Ευρυτανία υπάρχουν σημα-
ντικά μνημεία μίας άσβεστης κληρονομιάς που φέρνουν σε 
κάθε επισκέπτη σπουδαίες μνήμες του παρελθόντος. Χαρα-
κτηριστικά αναφέρω το Μοναστήρι του Προυσού, την Ιερά 
Μονή Τατάρνας, την Ιερά Μονή της Παναγίας στους Δομια-
νούς, την Ιερά Μονή Στάνας, τους Πύργους του Καραϊσκάκη, 
το μνημείο του Μάρκου Μπότσαρη στο Κεφαλόβρυσσο, το 
ιστορικό Σχολείο στις Κορυσχάδες και στη Βίνιανη, το αρχαι-
ολογικό χώρο στο Κλαυσί με την Παλαιοχριστιανική Βασιλική 
του Αγίου Λεωνίδη και άλλα πολλά.
 Εξίσου σημαντικό χαρακτηριστικό στοιχείο του του-
ριστικού μας τομέα αποτελεί το απείρου κάλλους φυσικό 
τοπίο που με τις απαράμιλλες εναλλαγές του μαγεύει την 
ματιά του επισκέπτη. Πανάρχαιοι ποταμοί χαράζουν στο 
πέρασμά τους την Ευρυτανική γη σχηματίζοντας εκπληκτι-
κά φαράγγια (Φαράγγι Πάντα Βρέχει, Φαράγγι της Βίνιανης, 
Φαράγγι Μπουζονίκου), αλλά και την Λίμνη των Κρεμαστών 
που με φόντο το πυκνό ελατόδασος ζωγραφίζουν την άγρια 
ομορφιά της περιοχής. 
 Τέλος θα ήταν παράλειψή μου να μην αναφέρω, 
όπως και παράληψη κάθε επισκέπτη της περιοχή μας, αν 
δεν επισκεφτεί το Κέντρο Ιστορίας Πολιτισμού Ευρυτανίας, 
το διαδραστικό μας Μουσείο που βρίσκεται στο Καρπενήσι 
και που μόλις πρόσφατα άνοιξε τις πύλες του, ταξιδεύοντας 
τους επισκέπτες σε τόπους και χρόνους που τώρα δεν μπο-
ρούν να παρευρεθούν προβάλλοντας σε σύγχρονο τρόπο την 
ιστορία και τον πολιτισμό της Ευρυτανίας.    
 Σας καλωσορίζω λοιπόν σε μια περιοχή που συνεχώς 
εκπλήσσει και που δικαίως έχει χαρακτηριστεί ως η Καρδιά 
του Εναλλακτικού Τουρισμού στην Καρδιά της Ελλάδας. 

Αριστείδης Τασιός
Αντιπεριφερειάρχης Ευρυτανίας 

Moreover, Karpenisi also has the most modern 
Conference Center of the Region of Central Greece. Equipped 
with state-of-the-art technology and built to the latest 
standards, it can accommodate up to 600 delegates. In 
addition, with the conference venues of the large hotel 
units of the city, it is an ideal solution for those who want to 
combine knowledge, work and fun with their vacation. 

However, one of the biggest comparative advantages 
of the region is its rich cultural, historical and religious 
heritage. From end to end throughout Evrytania there are 
important monuments that testify the area’s rich history. I shall 
only mention the Monastery of Prousos, the Holy Monastery 
of Tatarna, the Holy Monastery of Panagia in Domianoi, the 
Holy Monastery of Stanas, the Towers of Karaiskakis, the 
monument of Markos Botsaris in Kefalovrysso, the historical 
school in Korischades and Viniani, the archaeological site in 
Klafsi with the Early Christian Basilica of Agios Leonidis and 
many more. 

Equally important characteristic of our tourism sector 
is the infinitely beautiful and diverse natural landscape that 
enchants all visitors. Rivers forming amazing gorges (Gorge 
Panta Vrehei, Viniani Gorge, Bouzonikou Gorge), but also the 
Lake of Kremasta that against the background of the dense 
fir forest creates a unique landscape. 

Finally, I should mentioned the Cultural History Center 
of Evrytania, our interactive Museum located in Karpenisi 
that just recently opened its gates to the public, taking 
visitors to past places and times, projecting in a modern way 
the history and culture of Evrytania. 

I welcome you to an ever enchanting area that has 
rightly been described as the Heart of Alternative Tourism in 
Greece. 

Aristeidis Tasios 
Deputy Regional Governor of Evrytania
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Η περιήγησή μας θα ξεκινήσει από το Καρπενήσι και το 
επιβλητικό Βελούχι και στη συνέχεια ακολουθώντας το 
ίχνος 12 διαδρομών θα περιηγηθούμε σε όλους τους οι-
κισμούς της Ευρυτανίας.

Πριν ξεκινήσουμε το ταξίδι είναι καλό να εξοικειωθούμε 
λίγο με τη βασική γεωγραφία της Ευρυτανίας που απλω-
μένη καθώς είναι πάνω στον κορμό της Πίνδου, περιγρά-
φεται από βουνά και δροσερές κοιλάδες. 
Τα τρία μεγάλα ποτάμια που διατρέχουν το βόρειο τμή-
μα της οριοθετούν δύο παράλληλες κορυφογραμμές που 
φέρουν το σημαδιακό όνομα Άγραφα.
Ο υπερτοπικός και μυθικός Αχελώος (ή Ασπροπόταμος) 
που έρχεται από την Ήπειρο, μαιανδρίζει στο δυτικό όριο 
της περιοχής και ανοίγει μια φυσική πύλη για τον πεδινό 
κόσμο και τη θάλασσα, συμπαρασύροντας και τα υπό-
λοιπα ποτάμια της Ευρυτανίας προς τους κάμπους της 
Αιτωλοακαρνανίας και το Ιόνιο. Ο Αγραφιώτης, γέννημα 
θρέμμα των Αγράφων, ελίσσεται ανάμεσα στις απόκρη-
μνες κορυφογραμμές του συγκροτήματος, ενώ ο Ταυρω-
πός (πιο γνωστός με το παλιό του όνομα Μέγδοβα) έρχε-
ται από το θεσσαλικό υψίπεδο που σήμερα καλύπτεται 
από την τεχνητή λίμνη Πλαστήρα.

Το νότιο τμήμα της Ευρυτανίας σχηματίζουν τρία μεγά-
λα βουνά, το Βελούχι (ή Τυμφρηστός), η Χελιδόνα και 
η Καλιακούδα που τροφοδοτούν δύο ακόμα ποτάμια, 
τον Καρπενησιώτη και τον Κρικελλοπόταμο. Στα σύνορα 
με την Αιτωλία, το ορεινό τείχος του Παναιτωλικού ανα-
γκάζει τους δύο ποταμούς να πάρουν στροφή προς τα 
βόρεια για να έρθουν να σμίξουν -μέσω του Τρικεριώτη- 
με τα τρία βορεινά αδέρφια τους, στην πελώρια τεχνητή 
λίμνη των Κρεμαστών.

Λίγες ομαλές κοιλάδες φωλιάζουν μέσα στο δαίδαλο των 
βουνών, με πιο χαρακτηριστικές το υψίπεδο του Καρπε-
νησίου, τις λεκάνες της Φουρνάς, της Αγίας Τριάδας, των 
Πρασιών, της Φραγκίστας και της Δομνίστας. Πάντως 
οι Ευρυτάνες εκμεταλλεύτηκαν καθε ομαλό σημείο του 
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Εισαγωγή στην ΕυρυτανίαIntroduction to Evrytania

Our tour will start from Karpenisi and the imposing Velou-
hi and then following the trail of 12 routes we will tour all 
the settlements of Evrytania.

Before starting the trip, it is good to get acquainted with 
the basic geography of Evrytania, which spreads out in Pin-
dos, and is surrounded by mountains and valleys. 

The three large rivers that flow through its northern part 
delimit two parallel ridges, forming the famous Agrafa.

The supra-local and mythical Acheloos (or Aspropotamos) 
that descends from Epirus, meanders at the western bor-
der of the area and opens a natural gate to the plains and 
sea, dragging the other rivers of Evrytania to the plains of 
Etoloakarnania and the Ionian Sea. Agrafiotis meanders 
between the steep ridges of the complex, while Tavropos 
(better known by its old name Megdova) descends from 
the Thessalian plateau that is now covered by the artificial 
lake Plastira.

The southern part of Evrytania is formed by three large 
mountains, Velouhi (or Timfristos), Chelidona and Kali-
akouda, which feed two more rivers, Karpenisiotis and 
Krikellopotamos. On the border with Aetolia, the moun-
tain of Panaitolikos forces the two rivers to turn north and 
join -through Trikeriotis- their three northern brothers, in 
the vast artificial lake of Kremasta.

A few smooth valleys nest in the maze of mountains, with 
the most characteristic ones being the plateau of Karpe-
nisi, the basins of Fourna, Agia Triada, Prasies, Frangista 
and Domnista. The locals took advantage of every smooth 
part of the relief to set up their settlements, and create 
stepped terraces.
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The main productive resources were and remain logging 
and animal husbandry, which, however, has decreased sig-
nificantly after the war, along with agriculture, resulting in 
the expansion of the forest. 
The mountain forest is composed entirely of firs, with 
plane trees -that mark even the smallest ravines- illumi-
nating its dark mantle. Lower, in the settlements zone, the 
oak forest, although it has suffered the greatest losses, still 
covers and colors the autumn landscapes. The dominant 
element of the vegetation at altitudes below 1,000 meters 
is oak, which, depending on the local soil and microclimat-
ic conditions, is replaced or supplemented by hornbeam, 
aria and all the hardwood shrubs of the Mediterranean 
macchia. Finally, the Jerusalem Sage together with the ol-
ive tree point out the few areas with a clear Mediterrane-
an character, on the shores of Lake Kremasta. 
Evrytania remains a refuge for large mammals (wild boars, 
roe deer) and many of the country’s medium and smaller 
mammals. Large birds of prey, vultures, golden eagles and 
ospreys roaming over the mountains are rare, but there 
are many forest birds.

11

Evrytania is a paradise of mountain 
sports: a well-organized ski resort, count-
less peaks for mountaineering routes, 
dozens of marked trails for short walks 
around the settlements, gorges for tech-
nical descents (canyoning), foamy rivers 
and lakes for rafting. All this framed by 
high quality tourist infrastructure: hotels 
and guesthouses with character, food in 
excellent taverns and restaurants. 

Before your excursions, visit the Inter-
active Museum, in Karpenisi, to get an 
overview of the history and culture of 
the area.

Kaliakouda with the cloak of firs
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Here visitors can get an overview of the entire 
area in a fascinating way

The Cultural History Center of Evrytania (KIPE) is an inter-
active museum housed in an impressive stone building in 
Karpenisi. Its founding by the Prefectural Unit of Evrytania 
is the first attempt at a comprehensive presentation of the 
great historical and cultural reserve of the wider region of 
Evrytania. KIPE has a permanent collection entitled: «The 
treasures of Evrytania», which consists of mockups of ar-
chaeological findings in Evrytania, archival documents, 
objects and virtual reality applications that take visitors 
back to important historical events in the area. It also has 
a library and educational space and a periodical exhibition 
room for any event of historical, cultural, and artistic inter-
est. The land of the ancient Evrytanians is presented in the 
rooms of the permanent exhibition, with important infor-
mation about the excavation activity of the area.

13

Visitors can get to know the historical route of the area 
with mockups of the most important exhibits located in 
great museums in Greece and abroad. The tour continues 
in the Byzantine, post-Byzantine years and the recent his-
tory of Evrytania through important historical landmarks. 
KIPE is a model modern museum that uses new technology 
and creates a new dynamic museum-visitor relationship. 
Visitors can activate the touch screens located in the halls 
of the museum and receive a wealth of information about 
the area’s historical facts. In specially designed rooms, vis-
itors have the opportunity to watch virtual reality movies 
and augmented reality movies; the latest technology that 
takes them back to space and time.

First stop at the interactive museum - KIPE
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 1	 PARK OF EMIGRANTS OF Evrytania: 
(BICYCLE ROAD, PLAYGROUND, FITNESS EQUIPMENT, 
SKATEBOARD TRACK, CLIMBING WALL) 

 2	 FIREFIGHTING 
 3	 TEI OF KARPENISI 
 4	 FAIRY PARK: PLAYGROUND, AMPHITHEATER 
 5	 REGIONAL UNIT OF EVRYTANIA

 6	 INDOOR PLAYGROUND 
 7	 MAIN PUBLIC LIBRAR Y 
 8	 KIPE - Interactive Mu seum 
 9	 PAVLOS BAKOGIANN IS PARK
10	 POLICE STATION
11	 OLD TOWN HALL: OP EN 
12	 KARPENISI GENERAL HOSPITAL

15

13	 CENTRAL SQUARE OF KARPENISI 
14	 KARPENISI CONFERENCE CENTER: TWO VENUES  

FOR CONFERENCES AND MUNICIPAL MOVIE THEATER 
15	 MOUNTAIN MUSEUM 
16	 KTEL OF KARPENISI
17	 INDOOR SWIMMING POOL
18	 NEW TOWN HALL

KARPENISI
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Karpenisi, the capital, road node and heart of 
the economic development of Evrytania, was 
established in the late Ottoman Empire and 
today is the only urban hub of the prefecture.  
It has a remarkable hotel and social infrastruc-
ture and is home to cultural institutions and or-
ganizations.

The parish Church of the Holy Trinity was built in the sec-
ond half of the 16th century. It was originally a small chap-
el. In this chapel, around 1645, Evgenios Giannoulis of Ae-
tolia founded the first School in Evrytania for the higher 
education of Greek children, as well as Schools for lower 
level education. Later, at his suggestion, it was decided to 
build a new large and beautiful church on the same site, 
based on the basilicas of Constantinople. This stavropegial 
temple was probably destroyed in 1684, when the Turks 
were defeated in Goliani (Stefani) by Livinis. In the years 
that followed, the Church of Holy Trinity has suffered re-
peated disasters. The last renovation took place in 1961 
and about twenty years later, the interior was painted. 

Karpenisi
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The renovated sports center of Karpeni-
si, as well as the indoor swimming pool 
promote sports tourism and host large 
events. 
In the first ten days of August, the Munic-
ipality of Karpenisi organizes the famous 
“Botsaria”, a series of events in honor of 
the hero of the Revolution, Markos Bot-
saris, who lost his life in the historic battle 
of Kefalovryso, in August 1823. A monu-
ment has been erected in his honor in Ke-
falovryso. The beautiful location with the 
plane trees and the abundant waters also 
functions as a place of recreation. 
The “Winter Fests” during the Christmas 
holidays and the summer “Forest Holi-
days” organized by the Municipality of 
Karpenisi have become a tradition and 

attract many people. 
Built at the foot of the imposing Velouhi, Karpenisi is the 
base for excursions to the ski resort, the most important 
attraction of winter tourism.

Karpenisi and its wide valley

Snowy Karpenisi
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  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Καρπενήσι - Άγιος Δημήτριος - Μύλος Θεμελή  
(4,5 χλμ, 2 ώρες). 
Το  μονοπάτι με κίτρινη σήμανση  ξεκινάει από τη 
βάση του λόφου του Αγίου Δημητρίου και μας οδη-
γεί μέσα από όμορφο πευκοδάσος σε δια-κλάδωση με 
ταμπέλα προς Άγιο Δημήτριο. 
Αξίζει μια μικρή παράκαμψη προς το ξωκκλή-
σι με την πανοραμική θέα προς το Καρπενήσι.  
Επιστρέφουμε στη διασταύρωση και ακολουθούμε 
το μονοπάτι με κατεύθυνση το Κεφαλόβρυσο. Σε λίγο 
συναντάμε την Περιμετρική Οδό Καρπενησίου και 
περνάμε από κάτω της. Το υπόλοιπο τμήμα μέχρι το 
νερόμυλο του Θεμελή είναι σε δασικό δρόμο. Ο νερό-
μυλος βρίσκεται δίπλα στον Καρπενησιώτη ποταμό 
τον οποίο διασχίζουμε με τσιμεντένια γεφυρούλα. 
Μονοπάτι με κόκκινη σήμανση, στην αρχή σε ελα-
τόδασος και στη συνέχεια σε πλατάνια, μας οδηγεί 
στο Κεφαλόβρυσο.

Σ’ ένα οροπέδιο του Βελουχιού, σε υψόμετρο 1840 μ. 
στη θέση «Διαβολότοπος», βρίσκεται το Χιονοδρομικό 
Κέντρο Καρπενησίου, που απέχει 12 χλμ. από την πόλη 
του Καρπενησίου. Δημιουργήθηκε  το 1974 και από τότε 
διαρκώς βελτιώνεται. Διαθέτει 18 πίστες διαφορετικών 
επιπέδων δυσκολίας κυμαινόμενης υψομετρικής 
διαφοράς από 1800-2040μ., και 4 off-piste διαδρομές, 
καταστήματα πώλησης και ενοικίασης ειδών σκι και 
μηχανοκίνητων έλκηθρων και σχολή σκι. 
Επίσης, λειτουργούν, Σαλε, εστιατόριο, καφετέρια, μπαρ 
και πρώτες βοήθειες στις πίστες. Από τους αναβατήρες 
έχεις υπέροχη θέα προς την πόλη, τα βουνά της περιοχής, 
αλλά και όλης της κεντρικής Ελλάδας.

Καρπενήσι

The Ski Center of Karpenisi is located on a plateau of Ve-
louhi, at an altitude of 1840 meters, in the location “Di-
avolotopos”, about 12 km from the town of Karpenisi. It 
was established in 1974 and since then it is constantly im-
proving. It has 18 slopes of different difficulty levels rang-
ing from 1800-2040m, and 4 off-piste routes, shops selling 
and renting skis and motorized sleds and a ski school. 
There are also chalets, a restaurant, a café, a bar and first 
aid services provided on the slopes. From the lifts, there is 
a wonderful view of the town, the mountains of the area, 
but also of the entire Central Greece.

Karpenisi
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HIKING ROUTE 
Karpenisi - Agios Dimitrios - Themelis Mill 
(4.5 km, 2 hours). 
The path with yellow markings starts from the base 
of the hill of Agios Dimitrios and leads us through 
a beautiful pine forest to a junction with a sign 
to Agios Dimitrios. 
It is worth making a short detour to the chapel 
with the panoramic view to Karpenisi. We return 
to the junction and follow the path in the direc-
tion of Kefalovryso. In a little while we will see the 
ring road of Karpenisi and pass under it. The rest 
of the section up to the watermill of Themelis 
lies on a forest road. The watermill is located next 
to the Karpenisiotis river which we cross over a 
concrete bridge. A path with red markings, in the 
beginning of the fir forest and then plane trees, 
leads us to Kefalovryso.

  

Karpenisi Ski Center



route 1
from Karpenisi 
to Panagia Prousiotissa

Gorgianades
Koryschades
Voutyro
Nostimo
Mikro Chorio
Megalo Chorio
Gavros
Karitsa
Dermati
Chelidona
Prousos
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route 1

Route 1 goes southwards, parallel to the Karpe-
nisiotis river, in the valley of Potamia and leads 
us to the area of Prousos, with the famous mon-
astery of Panagia Prousiotissa.

First on the route is the village of Gorianades, which is 
built amphitheatrically among firs and fruit trees. The set-
tlement has a guesthouse and a restaurant, and consists of 
stone houses with tiled roofs. Also known as the “village of 
the mountaineers”, it dates back to the period of Ottoman 
rule. Before leaving the main road we will stumble upon 
an agritourism unit with horses, opposite the church of 
Panagia of Mesabelia. 

The famous Koryschades are located close by. Built on 
the fir tree hugged slopes of the peak Psilo Kotroni. The 
beautiful traditional settlement with its stone mansions 
and well-kept holiday homes offers many accommodation 
options. The modern history of the Koryschades is linked 
to National Resistance. The meeting of the National Coun-
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cil of free Greece that ratified the “Gov-
ernment of the mountain” took place on 
May 4, 1944 in the stone primary school 
of the village. Today it functions as a Mu-
seum of National Resistance and is cele-
brated every year in mid-May. Worth see-
ing sights of the settlement include the 
church of Agios Athanasios of 1865 and 
just outside the settlement, in the loca-
tion “Koumasia”, the monastery of Pana-
gia of the 17th century that was repeat-
edly destroyed by the Ottomans, during 
the Revolution, but also in 1944 by Ger-
mans. A fortress of unknown date is pre-
served on a hill outside the settlement, 
where in 1954 burial monuments were 
found with bronze and brass offerings.

Next stop is Voutyro, a well-preserved settlement with 
nice stone houses, well-manicured guesthouses and beau-
tiful views, especially from the top of the hill where Agios 
Ioannis is located. The majestic, Byzantine style church of 
Agia Paraskevi dominates the center of the village. It is also 
worth visiting (by appointment) the old single-seat prima-
ry school that revives and honors the forgotten institution 
and role of education in the remote mountainous villages. 

At the foot of Mount Chelidona, the village Nostimo is built 
amidst a dense fir forest overlooking Kaliakouda. Probably 
owes its name to the clear running waters that gush out 
from the mountain. The sights of the village, the bridge 
and the watermill are related to the water.

Koryschades - Museum of National Resistance
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Το Νέο Μικρό Χωριό, δημιουργήθηκε από κατοίκους του 
παλαιού Μικρού Χωριού, σε καταπράσινο  τοπίο. Η αρχι-
τεκτονική και ο σχεδιασμός του οικισμού είναι σε αρμονία 
με τη φύση και το περιβάλλον και έχει πλούσια τουριστι-
κή υποδομή. Λίγο έξω από τον οικισμό αξίζει να επισκε-
φθείτε την Ησυχαστήριο Οσίας Μαρίας Αιγύπτιας, όπως 
και τη Βρωμόβρυση στο δρόμο για τον Άγιο Σώστη: είναι 
η πέτρινη βρύση δίπλα στην οποία ξεψύχησε ο Μάρκος 
Μπότσαρης.

Το Παλιό Μικρό Χωριό είναι ένα από τα πιο όμορφα ευ-
ρυτανικά χωριά, αν και κρύβει μια στενάχωρη ιστορία, 
όταν τον χειμώνα του 1963, μια κατολίσθηση παρέσυρε 
το μισό χωριό. Από την κατολίσθηση σχηματίστηκε μια 
μικρή λίμνη στην είσοδο του οικισμού. Την κατολίσθηση 
ιστορεί μια τοιχογραφία στο ναό της Αγίας Κυριακής στο 
Νέο Μικρό Χωριό. Στο παλιό πέτρινο σχολείο του Παλιού 
Μικρού Χωριού στεγάζεται το λαογραφικό μουσείο με έγ-
γραφα από την περίοδο της Κατοχής, μαζί με υλικό από 
την κατολίσθηση, παραδοσιακές ενδυμασίες και αρχαία 
ευρήματα. Επίσης δεν υπάρχει καλύτερο μέρος να ξαπο-
στάσετε από πλακόστρωτη την πλατεία του χωριού με τις 
6 πέτρινες βρύσες και τα ταβερνάκια.

Ανάμεσα στο Νέο και το Παλιό Μικρό Χωριό στη θέση 
«Άνω Λόγγοβες» θα δείτε ένα λιτό λευκό μνημείο προς 
τιμή 11 ελλήνων αγωνιστών που εκτελέστηκαν από τους 
Ιταλούς το 1942.

Επόμενος σταθμός είναι το Μεγάλο Χωριό που βρίσκεται 
στην ανατολική όχθη του Καρπενησιώτη, στους πρόποδες 
της Καλιακούδας. Ένα από τα πιο γραφικά και τουριστικά 
χωριά του νομού Ευρυτανίας, με τα σοκάκια, τα παλιά πα-
ραδοσιακά σπίτια και αρχοντικά, τους όμορφους ξενώνες, 
τις ξύλινες γέφυρες, τα μικρά παραδοσιακά καταστήματα 
και τις ταβέρνες. Αξίζει να δείτε την εκκλησία της Αγίας 
Παρασκευής που χρονολογείται στις αρχές του 19ου αιώ-
να, και την εκκλησία του Αγίου Γεωργίου, Μεγαλοχωρια-
νού, που μαρτύρησε το 1812 στην Κωσταντινούπολη.

διαδρομή 1route 1

Neo Mikro Horio was built by residents of the old Mikro 
Horio, in a landscape with lush vegetation. The architec-
ture and design of the settlement is in harmony with na-
ture and the environment and has a rich tourist infrastruc-
ture. Just outside the settlement, it is worth visiting the 
Hermitage of Saint Mary of Egypt, as well as Vromovrisi 
on the was to Agios Sostis -it is the stone fountain next to 
which Markos Botsaris died.

Palio Mikro Horio is one of the most beautiful villages in 
Evrytania, although it hides a sad story, when in the winter 
of 1963, a landslide swept away half of it. The landslide 
formed a small lake at the entrance of the settlement. The 
landslide is depicted on a mural in the church of Agia Kyri-
aki in Neo Mikro Horio. The old stone school of Palio Mikro 
Horio houses the folklore museum showcasing documents 
from the Occupation period, along with landslide material, 
traditional costumes and ancient finds. There is no better 
place to rest than the paved square of the village with the 
6 stone fountains and taverns.

Between Neo and Palio Mikro Horio in the location “Ano 
Longoves” you will see a simple white monument in honor 
of 11 Greek fighters who were executed by the Italians in 
1942.

Next stop is Megalo Horio, located on the east bank of 
Karpenisiotis, at the foot of Kaliakouda. One of the most 
picturesque and touristic villages of the prefecture of 
Evrytania, with its alleys, old traditional houses and man-
sions, beautiful guesthouses, wooden bridges, small tradi-
tional shops and taverns. It is also worth visiting the church 
of Agia Paraskevi, which dates back to the beginning of the 
19th century, and the church of Agios Georgios Megalo-
horianos, which was martyred in 1812 in Constantinople.
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HIKING ROUTE 
Megalo Horio - Lakkomata (4 km, 2.5 hours) The red 
marking route starts from the square of Megalo 
Horio, follows the alleys of the village and then 
a narrow dirt road. It enters the fir forest with a 
path that intersects at many points the forest 
road which leads to the mountain pass of Kaliak-
ouda. It ends in Lakkomata with the chapel of Pa-
nagia, Krya Vrysi and the Shelter of EOS Karpenisi.

  

Palio Mikro Horio

Lakkomata
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route 1

Our tour continues in the settlement Gavros with the many 
taverns and the local trout farm, a must stop for tasting. 

After Gavros, rocks begin to rise to our right and left and 
Karpenisiotis enters a gorge. The location Kleidi, where the 
road passes under a rock roof, is characteristic of the area. 

Further down the road and above the road, Karitsa owes 
its name to the abundant walnuts found in the area. At-
tractions near the village include the gorge of Vothonas 
- for Canyoning lovers - and the single-arched bridge of 
Karitsa, an arch without pedestals wedged between the 
vertical rocks of a torrent. 

In Ano Karitsa it is worth visiting the church of Agios Dim-
itrios, which dates back to the end of the 19th century. A 
pilgrim stop worth visiting is the “Footprints of the Vir-
gin Mary” (shapes that can be seen on the rock) and the 
“Print” (through hole) which are related to the passage of 
the image of the Virgin Mary to the Monastery of Prousos. 
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Deviating from the central axis we will 
stumble upon two villages that are nes-
tled high on the slopes of Chelidona. 
First, Dermati which is divided into two 
settlements, east and west. At the high-
est point, where they meet, lies the heart 
of the village with the church of Agia Par-
askevi, dating back to the late 19th cen-
tury, the community office, the school 
and the café. 

Next stop is Chelidona, formerly called 
Lastovo. The school building, where 
about 100 children attended before the 
war, is impressive. Today there is a win-
ery in the village and also a vine harvest 
festival. 

Back to Dipotama, at the junction of Krikellopotamos with 
Karpenisiotis, where there is a large stone bridge, next to 
the road bridge. 

In a place that from afar seems inaccessible lies the Mon-
astery of Prousos, a top pilgrimage site in the entire re-
gion. The Holy Monastery of Prousos was founded around 
the 12th century. In the 16th century, the catholikon was 
destroyed by a fire and then re-decorated, although the 
frescoes we see today date back to the 18th century. The 
monastery played an important role in 1821, as a shelter 
and sanatorium for Karaiskakis, but also before the Revo-
lution as a School of Greek Letters. In the treasury of the 
Monastery there are valuable manuscript codes, icons, sa-
cred utensils, reliquaries and books as well as the weapons 
of Karaiskakis. Some of them are exhibited in the museum 
of the monastery. It is worth seeing the small crypt west 
of the catholikon where 13th century frescoes and an 18th 
century wooden iconostasis are preserved.

Monastery of Prousos



28

Ανάμεσα σε επιβλητικά και βραχώδη βουνά και κατάφυ-
τες από έλατα πλαγιές βρίσκεται ο οικισμός Προυσός. 
Γύρω από την παραδοσιακή πλατεία με τον υπεραιωνό-
βιο πλάτανο θα βρείτε διαμονή και φαγητό, αλλά μην 
παραλείψετε να επισκεφθείτε την πλούσια Αγαθίδειο 
βιβλιοθήκη του 1880 και το Κατσάμπειο γυμνάσιο που 
μας ταξιδεύουν σε εποχές όπου ο Προυσός ήταν κεφα-
λοχώρι και είχει και πολλούς οικισμούς. Είναι η γενέ-
τειρα του Στρατηγού Κονδύλη που διατέλεσε 2 φορές 
πρωθυπουργός.

  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Μονή Προυσού - «Μαύρη Σπηλιά» (3,5 χλμ, 2 ώρες)
Η πορεία που έχει σήμανση κόκκινου χρώματος ξε-
κινά από το πάρκινγκ της Μονής Προυσού και οδηγεί 
μέσα από δροσερά τοπία με πλατάνια στο νερόμυ-
λο του Πασσιά, διασχίζει το δρόμο περνά από πέτρι-
νη βρύση. Μπαίνει στο φαράγγι με το διαμορφωμένο 
μονοπάτι με ξύλινα γεφυράκια και φθάνει κάτω από 
τη Μαύρη Σπηλιά, κρησφύγετο για τους ντόπιους στις 
περιόδους της Τουρκοκρατίας αλλά της γερμανικής 
κατοχής. 

  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Μαύρη Σπηλιά - Via Ferrata - Προυσός  (3 χλμ, 4 ώρες) 
Η έναρξη της via ferrata είναι μετά το τρίτο σε σειρά 
ξύλινο γεφυράκι στο μονοπάτι της Μαύρης Σπηλιάς, 
στα δεξιά μας. Απαραίτητο το κράνος αναρρίχησης 
και παπούτσια που δεν γλιστράνε. Η διάσχιση της via 
ferrata θα μας πάρει περίπου 50 λεπτά. Η έξοδος από 
τη via ferrata γίνεται με την βοήθεια συρματόσχοινου 
Στη συνέχεια το μονοπάτι μας οδηγεί στο εκκλησάκι 
των Αγίων Αποστόλων κι από κει πίσω στο δρόμο.

διαδρομή 1route 1

The settlement of Prousos is located between the impos-
ing rocky mountains and fir-covered slopes. Around the 
traditional square with the centuries-old plane tree you 
will find accommodation and food. Visit the rich Agathidei-
os Library of 1880 and the Katsampeio high school, which 
will take you back in time when Prousos was a head village 
and had many settlements. It is the birthplace of General 
Kondylis who served twice as prime minister.

HIKING ROUTE 
Monastery of Prousos - “Mavri Spilia” (3,5 km, 2 hours) 
The path marked in red starts from the parking 
lot of the Monastery of Prousos and leads through 
lovely landscapes with plane trees to the water-
mill of Passia, crossing the road and passing by 
a stone fountain. It enters the gorge with the 
shaped path with wooden bridges and reaches un-
der Mavri Spilia, a refuge for the locals during the 
Turkish and the German occupation.

HIKING ROUTE 
Mavri Spilia - Via Ferrata - Prousos (3 km, 4 hours) 
The start of via ferrata is after the third in a row 
wooden bridge on the path of Mavri Spilia, on our 
right. It is essential to wear a climbing helmet 
and non-slip shoes. Crossing via ferrata will take 
us about 50 minutes. The exit from via ferrata is 
done with the help of a cable. Then the path leads 
us to the church of Agios Apostolos and from 
there back to the road.

29

  

  

Mavri Spilia



route 2
οn the northern  
outskirts of Kaliakouda

Kalithea
Myriki
Agios Nikolaos
Klafsi
Agios Andreas
Mouzilo
Aniada
Sykrello
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route 2

Route 2 runs at a short distance from Karpenisi 
to picturesque villages all surrounded by firs.

Agios Nikolaos, a mountain village built between firs and 
chestnuts, is located very close to the axis of the national 
road Lamia - Karpenisi. It is the first to welcome visitors en-
tering Evrytania with excellent hospitality infrastructure. 
The old name of the village was Laspi, a name due to the 
many running waters and the type of soil. 

Kallithea, nestled on the slopes of the Koniskos hill, op-
posite Karpenisi, has a nice view of the valley of Karpeni-
siotis. This also suggests the name of the small settlement 
that was formerly called Biara. 

Myriki, on the slopes of the fir-hugged Neraidovouni, was 
once famous for making traditional costumes. The church 
of Agia Paraskevi, which dates back to 1816, stands out.

Deviating from the road of Potamia, we 
will cross Karpenisiotis and visit Klafsi, 
Mouzilo, Aniada and Syggrello.

Klafsi is located near the lush valley of 
Karpenisiotis and overlooks the river and 
Chelidona . In the village there are taverns 
and a guesthouse. Traces of an old settle-
ment and the church of Agios Leonidis 
(5th century) have been discovered very 
close to the settlement, which is the only 
excavated and visitable monument of the 
early Christian period in Evrytania. 

Aniada, on the outskirts of Kaliakouda, can 
serve as a base for hiking in Kaliakouda.

Further north, Syggrelo is also located in a place over-
grown with firs. At the top of the village, the chapel of Agia 
Paraskevi dates back to the mid-19th century.

HIKING ROUTE 
Klafsi - Kakoulioureika - Agios Leonidis (4 km, 1.5 hours) 
A circular path that starts from the village square 
leads us to the Watermill of Xekarfotos and the arched 
bridge Magganiari. Then we see the spring of Amblas, 
the chapel of Agios Nikolaos and finally the Byzantine 
church of Agios Leonidis before reaching our starting 
point.

  

Klafsi, surrounded by fir forest



route 3
from the back  
to Timfristos  
to Sarantaina

Monument 
of the Kokkalia 
Battle
Krikelo
Domnista
Stavli
Ambliani
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route 3

Route 3 runs southeast of Karpenisi, on the 
slopes of a long ridge called Kokkalia and con-
nects Velouhi with the mountain Oxia or Saran-
taina.

Leaving the ridge of Timfristos to the south we will vis-
it the Monument of the battle of Kokkalia that takes us 
back to 279 BC when the united armies of the Aetolians 
and Evrytanians crushed 40,000 Galatian warriors sent by 
their leader, Brennus II, for distraction. The name Kokkalia 
refers to the innumerable bones left behind by the battle.

Built amidst a dense fir forest, Krikello is a picturesque 
settlement with stone houses and beautiful alleys. In the 
large paved square with the plane trees, the built foun-
tain of 1887 and the exceptional stone-built mansion of 
Kaltsa - Tsiouni, the stone-built church of Agios Nikolaos 
stands out for its impressive size and construction of gray 
hewn stone and many stone carvings. Krikello is famous 
for its masons, but also for the traditional women’s cos-
tumes made there. The village has a very good tourist 

infrastructure with guesthouses, taverns 
and shops. In Krikello, in May, there is a 
mushroom festival. The village is located 
on the route of the Bike Odyssey Cycling 
Race, which crosses Pindos, while the 5th 
stage of the Race is a route around Krikel-
lo. Evrytaneios Dromos, a race that starts 
from the monument of Kokkalia, ends at 
the village square.

Domnista, the head village of the area, 
also dates back to the Byzantine era. 
In the liberation struggle of 1821, it 
served as headquarters of the Gioldasai, 
while here, George Karaiskakis found ref-
uge, persecuted by all, in the summer of 
1824. An important part of the history of 
the village is the declaration of the armed 

struggle against the Germans by Aris Velouchiotis, leader 
of ELAS, in the central square of the village in June 1942. 
There is a monument that refers to this historic moment. 
You will get a better picture of the history of the village at 
the Folklore Museum where photographs, documents and 
objects are exhibited. 
The church of Agios Athanasios with the wood-carved 
iconostasis is also a remarkable monument.
Go up to the chapel of Prophet Elias to admire the view of 
the surrounding area. 
Do not miss the autumn celebration of Tsipouro in Domni-
sta where a party is set up in the village square.
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Church of Agios Nikolaos in Krikello



HIKING ROUTE 
Krikello - Arenta - Agios Athanasios - Krikello  
(5.5 km, 2.5 hours). 
We start from the village square and take the 
road that passes through the Primary School. We 
leave the village in a southwesterly direction to 
the hill that rises above Krikello and ascend to 
its top. At the descent we pass by the chapel of 
Agios Athanasios.
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Αν 2 χιλιόμετρα πριν τη Δομνίστα στραφούμε δυτικά 
θα φθάσουμε στους Στάβλους, στα 1250 μ, στις πλα-
γιές της Σαράνταινας. Ο κλασικός πλάτανος και η χτι-
στή βρύση κοσμούν τη δροσερή πλατεία. Στο χωριό 
υπάρχει λαογραφικό μουσείο με ενδιαφέρουσα συλ-
λογή εργαλείων της καθημερινής και της γεωργικής 
ζωής. Ξεχωρίζει η εκκλησία του Αγίου Χαραλάμπους με 
τα πελεκητά αγκωνάρια και τα λιθανάγλυφα. 

Συνεχίζοντας νότια από τους Στάβλους κι αφού δρα-
σκελίσουμε ένα διάσελο μπαίνουμε σε μεγάλη ορεινή 
λεκάνη που απορρέει προς τον Εύηνο. Εδώ, χαμένο 
μέσα στις πτυχές του αναγλύφου, ησυχάζει το χωριό 
Άμπλιανη, απλωμένος αμφιθεατρικός οικισμός, με 
ελάχιστους μόνιμους κατοίκους και εκατοντάδες τον 
Αύγουστο. Στην πλατεία του χωριού είναι η πετρόχτι-
στη εκκλησία του Αγίου Νικολάου και τα λίγα μαγαζιά. 

διαδρομή 3

  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Κρίκελλο - Αρέντα - Άγιος Αθανάσιος - Κρίκελλο (5,5 
χλμ, 2,5 ώρες). Ξεκινάμε από την πλατεία του χωριού 
και παίρνουμε το δρόμο που περνάει από το Δημοτικό 
Σχολείο. Βγαίνουμε από το χωριό με κατεύθυνση νοτιο-
δυτικά προς το λόφο που υψώνεται πάνω από το Κρίκελ-
λο και ανεβαίνουμ μέχρι την κορυφή του. Στο κατέ-
βασμα περνάμε από το ξωκλήσι του Αγίου Αθανασίου.

If we turn 2 km to the west, before Domnista, we will 
reach Stavlos, at 1250 meters altitude, on the slopes of 
Sarantaina. The classic plane tree and the built-in fountain 
adorn the square. In the village there is a folklore museum 
with an interesting collection of tools of everyday and ag-
ricultural life. The church of Agios Charalampos stands out 
with its carved stones and stone carvings. 

Continuing south of Stavlos and after climbing a mountain 
pass, we enter a large mountain basin that flows towards 
Evinos. Here, lost in the folds of the relief, the village of 
Ambliani is spread amphitheatrically, with few permanent 
residents and hundreds of holiday makers in August. The 
stone church of Agios Nikolaos and few shops are located 
on the village square.
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  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Στάβλοι - Κρίκελλο (5 χλμ, 2,5 ώρες) - Τμήμα του ευρω-
παϊκού μονοπατιού Ε4
Ξεκινάμε από το ξωκλήσι της Αγίας Παρασκευής, έξω 
από τους Στάβλους και κατηφορίζουμε σ’ενα μαγικό 
ελατόδασος πνιγμένο στα μούσκλια που σε κάποια ση-
μεία σχηματίζουν παχύ χαλί στο έδαφος. Το μονοπάτι 
είναι φανερό στο μεγαλύτερο μέρος του, με εξαίρεση 
ένα τμήμα μετά τον Κρικελλοπόταμο όπου έχει πυ-
κνώσει η βλάστηση. Πότε με μονοπάτι και πότε με 
δρομάκια ανηφορίζουμε μέχρι το Κρίκελλο.

HIKING ROUTE 
Stavloi - Krikello (5 km, 2.5 hours) -  
Part of the European path E4
We start from the chapel of Agia Paraskevi, out-
side Stavloi, and descend to a magical fir forest 
drowned in moss that in some places forms a 
thick carpet on the ground. The path is visible for 
the most part, with the exception of a part after 
Krikellopotamos where the vegetation has thick-
ened. Using the path and small roads we ascend 
to Krikello.

route 3

  

  



route 4
from Prousos  
to Pantavrehei

Prousos
Tornos
Kastania
Prodromos
Roska
Agios Charalambos
Psiana
Skopia



route 4

Route 4 runs south from Kaliakouda to the vil-
lages of Krikellopotamos which are perched on 
steep slopes. The area has some of the most 
beautiful gorges of Evrytania.

After Prousos, our route turns east to enter the valley of 
Krikellopotamos. First we meet Tornos, a village surround-
ed by firs, with its stone houses popping up among the 
vineyards, from which they produced the famous wine of 
the area. Visitors will have the chance to enjoy nature by 
following paths. 

All routes are marked and on the website of the local As-
sociation “Megali Vrysi” you will find detailed descriptions 
of them. Do not miss the Little Pantavrehei!

After Tornos, we enter an isolated area with a wild and 
impressive terrain. The villages on our route, Kastania and 
Prodromos, enjoy a wonderful view of Kaliakouda.
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Roska is the starting point for a visit to 
the most impressive natural monument 
of Evrytania, “Pantavrehei” (means it’s al-
ways raining). Here springs gush out from 
the gorge of Krikellopotamos and create 
water curtains, between hanging gardens 
and rocks that look like sculptures. This 
place inspires a feeling of incessant rain, 
which is where it got its name.

HIKING ROUTE 
Roska - Pantavrehei (40 minutes) 
The route starts from the point 
where the road from Roska to Stour-

nara meets Krikellopotamos. Looking in the direction 
of the river we see an old suspension bridge and the 
entrance to the gorge. There is no sign for Pantavre-
hei, but there is no way you can bypass it. The place 
is marked by its magic.

  

Pantavrehei



route 5

the tour of Velouhi

Karpenisi
Stenoma
Pavlopoulo
Papadia
Domiani
Agia Triada



route 5

Route 5 surrounds the legendary Velouhi lean-
ing on its rugged, spruce-covered slopes and 
enjoying wonderful views of the Tavropos valley 
and the surrounding mountains.

The first settlement on our route, Stenoma, is a livestock 
village on the northwestern slopes of Timfristos, in an area 
full of firs, oaks, walnuts and plane trees. Near the settle-
ment there is a watermill. 

After Stenoma, the next village is Pavlopoulo, located in a 
beautiful mountainous area with many waters, which dur-
ing the Turkish occupation was a refuge of Greek fighters. 
In Pavlopoulo we will see the church of Agios Dimitrios, a 
representative sample of the ecclesiastical architecture of 
Evrytania, which since 1997 has been designated a historic 
monument. Above the settlement lies the chapel of Agios 
Panteleimon overlooking Timfristos, Tavropos and the ar-
eas of Frangista and Viniani. 

Domiani is a beautiful and well-kept vil-
lage with stone houses, cobbled streets 
and fountains, characterized as a tradi-
tional settlement. Combined with the 
rich vegetation of firs, chestnuts, walnuts, 
cherries and plane trees is a real gem of 
Evrytania. The monastery of the Assump-
tion of the Virgin Mary or Panagia Do-
mianitissa, has also been designated a 
protected monument, as it preserves the 
architectural elements of the late 18th 
century and representative works of the 
hagiographic school of Fournas Evrytania. 
The monastery had been burned twice: 
In 1611, because its monks participated 
in revolutionary movements and in 1770 
in the Orlov revolt. Every August 15, the 
monastery celebrates with a large num-

ber of pilgrims pouring in from the surrounding area. 

Head village and seat of the former municipality of Ktime-
nia, Agia Triada is located on the northern slopes of Velou-
hi. It is the birthplace of Panos Vassilios (1895-1985) histo-
rian, writer and activist and of the late MP Chrysostomos 
Karapiperis (1912-1989). The majestic church of Agia Tri-
ada dominates the village from atop. And further above, 
the church of Prophet Elias of 1790 is what is left of the 
old monastery that disappeared after 1830, due to lack of 
monks. A School of Greek Letters (1779) operated in Agia 
Triada during the Turkish occupation. Archimandrite Jo-
seph from Fourna and Vassilis Costopoulos from Rentina 
were the school principals. Among the students was the 
later bishop of Litza and Agrafa, Dositheos Panagiotidis 
(1793-1842). There is a Folklore Museum in the village and 
the “Foteios Library”, which are housed in the Karapiperio 
Foundation. In mid-November an annual chestnut festival 
takes place in the area.
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Panagia Domianitissa



Agia Triada
Petralona
Chochlia
Vracha
Klisto
Fourna

route 6
in the vast forests  
of Fourna
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Route 6 will lead us to the famous forest of 
Fourna, 40,000 acres with firs, pines and oaks 
that make up one of the most important forests 
in Greece, on which the economy of the region 
was based.

Leaving Agia Triada, we pass by Petralona (former Aracho-
vitsa) at an altitude of 900 meters. 

Above that, on the fir-covered slopes, Hochlia is one of the 
probable places of ancient Oichalia, which probably then 
became Hochlia. Among the findings from the area of Gla 
hill is a statuette of the god Dionysus, of the 2nd century 
BC, kept in the Archaeological Museum of Athens. 

Vraha is a picturesque settlement, at an altitude of 880m, 
with a centuries-old plane tree in the main square. In an 
isolated, mountainous area north of the village, in the oak 
forest, lies the old monastery of the Transfiguration of the 
Savior, or Vrahas Monastery, where the “School of Com-

mon Letters of the Rocks” was housed 
during the Turkish occupation. 

On the way to Fourna, we stumble upon 
an intersection for Klitsos, collective 
name of the settlements of Platanos, 
Mouschiades, Mesochori and Koritsa. Ko-
ritsa is the biggest one and has traditional 
stone houses. Here there was a monas-
tery where the relics of evangelist Luke 
were kept. Today, in the place of the mon-
astery, there is a church of Agios Nikolaos 
the Younger. The new martyr Agios Kypri-
anos also comes from Klitsos. 

Fourna is built in an open basin between 
the northern ends of Velouhi and the 
mountain Voulgara, in a position of stra-

tegic importance that has shaped the history of the settle-
ment. The main road to Eastern Thessaly passes through 
Fourna, via Rentina. The name Fourna dates back to the 
Late Byzantine years, but traces of an ancient wall and 
tombs testify to human settlement from antiquity. The 
settlement we see today was founded during the Turk-
ish occupation and in the pre-revolutionary years was a 
commercial hub. However, it was also a spiritual center of 
the area as the monk and painter Dionysios from Fourna 
founded in 1744, next to the Monastery of Zoodochos Pigi, 
a school, as well as a workshop of hagiographic art. His 
work was continued by enlightened teachers of the time. 
In 1827, the town was set on fire and looted by the Turks. 
Fourna continued to be a center as an animal fair was or-
ganized there. The Holy Church of the Transfiguration of 
the Savior (Fourna) houses relics of Saints, six icons of 
the Hagiographer Dionysios from Fourna and many more 
relics. At the end of July, the traditional pie festival takes 
place in Fourna.

route 6

Vrahas Monastery



route 7
in the middle  
of Megdova

Viniani
Chryso
Agios Dimitrios
Dafni
Mavrommata
Pavlopoulo
Stenoma
Karpenisi
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This route runs around Tavropos or Megdova 
and its tributaries. Landmark of the river is the 
solid bridge of Viniani.

Viniani consists of two settlements, Old and New Viniani. 
Palia Viniani is a historic settlement built in a naturally 
panoramic position with running waters and exceptional 
views. It has two-storey houses with peculiar architecture. 
There are now very few inhabitants, as after the earth-
quake that struck the area on February 6, 1966, most of 
them were transferred to the newest settlement of Nea 
Viniani. 
Viniani was the capital of Free Greece during the Na-
tional Resistance. The Political Committee for National 
Liberation, the “Mountain Government”, was founded 
here in March 1944. Today, the school houses the Histor-
ical Museum of Viniani, which hosts an exhibition of old 
photographs, while the busts of the members have been 

erected in the courtyard, as well as the 
monument dedicated to the Government 
of the Mountain. Every year the National 
Resistance is celebrated in mid-May. 
It is worth visiting the stone bridge of Vin-
iani from a dirt road that starts from Nea 
Viniani. The path that connected Karpeni-
si with Agrafa passed through this bridge. 
Now the crossing of the river is done by a 
Belay type bridge near the Parkio. 

At an altitude of about 750 meters and 
nestled between the fir-covered Kafki 
and the rock Tourla, Chryso was once one 
of the largest villages in Evrytania. Apart 
from its naturally fortified position, Chry-
so has many natural springs, something 
that favors its lush vegetation. These 

springs also power the watermill of the village. The village 
is famous for its 10 churches and 3 monasteries (now de-
stroyed), as well as the old primary school - established 
by a donation made by Andreas Syggros. Go up to the late 
Byzantine church of Panagia, whose icons date back to the 

route 7

The bridge of Viniani

The museum of Viniani
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παλιό δημοτικό σχολείο –δωρεά Ανδρέα Συγγρού. 
Ανηφορήστε προς τον υστεροβυζαντινό ναό της Πα-
ναγίας, του οποίου οι εικόνες χρονολογούνται στον 
16ο αιώνα και το χρυσοποίκιλτο τέμπλο στον 18ο. 
Στη Χρύσω, ο επισκέπτης έχει την ευκαιρία να περ-
πατήσει σε μονοπάτια μέσα σε έλατα και πανύψη-
λα σκιερά πλατάνια στις όχθες των δύο ποταμών που 
την περιβάλλουν, του Χρυσιώτη και του Γαβρενίτη. 
Στην είσοδο του χωριού, στα «Σούιλα», στο φαράγ-
γι του Χρυσιώτη ποταμού, φωλιασμένο μέσα στο 
βράχο βρίσκεται το εκκλησάκι του Αγίου Σεραφείμ 
σε σημείο όπου φιλοξενήθηκε η κάρα του Αγίου.             
Στο ποτάμι που κυλάει απο κάτω υπάρχουν δυό παλιά 
πέτρινα τοξωτά γεφύρια: το πάνω γεφύρι και το κάτω 
γεφύρι που οδηγεί στον οικισμό Μέγα Χωράφι. Αξίζει να 
επισκεφθεί κανείς τον παλιό νερόμυλο, τις επτά παλιές 
πετρόχτιστες «Βρύσες» και τις «Σκεπαστές Βρύσες».

Κοντά στις πηγές του Γαβρενίτη ποταμού, βρίσκεται ο 
οικισμός Άγιος Δημήτριος και οι συνοικισμοί του, Μα-
κρινιάγκο και Γάβραινα. Ιδρύθηκε τον 19ο αιώνα και 
τότε χρονολογείται και ο κεντρικός ναός του Αγίου Δη-
μητρίου του 1842. Βλέποντας σήμερα τις λιγοστές δι-
άσπαρτες κατοικίες με τους λαχανόκηπους δύσκολα 
μπορεί κάποιος να φανταστεί ότι κάποτε υπήρχε εδώ 
σχολείο με 80 μαθητές.  
  
Ο οικισμός Δάφνη χρονολογείται από την Τουρκοκρατία 
όταν βρισκόταν σε απόσταση περίπου 1 ώρα από την ση-
μερινή θέση και λεγόταν Κερέσοβα. Καταστράφηκε όμως 
από τους Οθωμανούς και οι κάτοικοι μετοίκησαν στο Χρύ-
σω. Στη συνέχεια χτίστηκε στη σημερινή του τοποθεσία 
και ονομάστηκε Μπεζά, ενώ από το 1951 μετονομάστηκε 
σε Δάφνη, ίσως από το φυτό δάφνη που κοσμεί τον προ-
αύλιο χώρο του ναού της Μεταμόρφωσης του Σωτήρα, 
που είναι καθολικό άλλοτε μεγάλου μοναστηριακού συ-
γκροτήματος που χρονολογείται στον 18ο αιώνα. Επιγρα-
φή του 1850 μνημονεύει τον Νικόλαο Δροσίνη, από την 
αγραφιώτικη οικογένια των προγόνων του ποιητή Δρο-
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σίνη. Η μεγάλη πλατεία με τις ψησταριές και τα καφενε-
δάκια γεμίζει κόσμο το καλοκαίρι. Ακολουθήστε το χωμα-
τόδρομο ως την παλιά εκκλησία των Αγίων Ταξιαρχών σε 
υπέροχο περιβάλλον με παλιά πέτρινη βρύση.

Ο οικισμός Μαυρομάτα που λεγόταν παλαιότερα Έλσα-
νη ή Έλσιανη, είναι ριζωμένος στην ανατολική πλαγιά 
της Κόψης, και κάποτε ήταν πάνω σε άξονα στρατηγικής 
σημασίας, τον αρχαίο δρόμο που ένωνε τη Δυτική Θεσ-
σαλία με την Βίνιανη. 

  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΔΡΟΜΗ
Στένωμα - Πέτρινο Γεφύρι Βίνιανης (E4)  (4 χλμ, 1,5 ώρες) 
Αφήνουμε το δρόμο Καρπενήσι-Στένωμα και ακολου-
θούμε χωματόδρομο και στη συνέχεια μονοπάτι που 
κατηφορίζει με ήπια κλίση, διασχίζουμε χωματόδρομο 
και καταλήγουμε  στο πέτρινο γεφύρι της Βίνιανης, 
μονότοξο γεφύρι χτισμένο στα μέσα του 17ου αιώνα.

16th century and the golden iconostasis to the 18th cen-
tury. In Chryso, visitors have the opportunity to walk on 
trails amidst firs and tall shady plane trees on the banks of 
the two rivers that surround it, Chrysiotis and Gavrenitis. 
At the entrance of the village, in “Souila”, in the gorge of 
Chrysiotis river, nestled in the rock lies the small church of 
Agios Seraphim at a place his head was kept. In the river 
that flows below there are two old stone arched bridges: 
the upper bridge and the lower bridge that leads to the 
settlement of Mega Horafi. It is worth visiting the old wa-
termill, the seven old stone-built “Vryses” and the “Ske-
pastes Vryses”. 

Near the springs of the Gavrenitis river, is the settlement 
of Agios Dimitrios, and the smaller settlements of Makrin-
iago and Gavraina. It was founded in the 19th century, 
along with the central church of Agios Dimitrios, which 
dates back to 1842. Seeing today the few scattered houses 
with vegetable gardens one can hardly imagine that once 
there was a school here with 80 students. 

The settlement of Daphne dates back to the Ottoman Em-
pire when it was located about 1 hour from its current lo-
cation and was called Keresova. However, it was destroyed 
by the Ottomans and its inhabitants moved to Chryso. It 
was later built on its current location and named Beza, 
while in 1951 it was renamed Daphne, perhaps from the 
laurel plant that adorns the courtyard of the Church of the 
Transfiguration of the Savior, which is the catholicon of a 
once large monastery complex dating to the 18th century. 
An inscription of 1850 mentions Nikolaos Drosinis, from 
the local family of the ancestors of poet Drosinis. The large 
square with grills and cafés is full of people during the 
summer. Follow the dirt road to the old church of Agios 
Taxiarches in a wonderful environment with an old stone 
fountain. 

The settlement of Mavromata, formerly called Elsani or El-
siani, is rooted on the eastern slope of Kopsi, and was once 
on an axis of strategic importance, the ancient road that 
connected Western Thessaly with Viniani.

HIKING ROUTE 
Stenoma - Viniani Stone Bridge (E4) (4 km, 1.5 hours) 
We leave the road Karpenisi-Stenoma and follow 
a dirt road and then a path that descends with a 
gentle slope, cross a dirt road and end at the stone 
bridge of Viniani, a single-arched bridge built in the 
mid-17th century.

route 7

  



route 8
around Chelidona 
and Trikeriotis

Stefani
Milia
Sella
Fidakia
Agia Vlacherna
Sarkini
Katavothra
Velota
Esochoria
Aspropyrgos
Prousos
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The settlement of Fidakia or Fthakia, as 
the locals call it, has an impressive view 
to the lake. Fidakia is a traditional set-
tlement of Evrytania with flowery alleys, 
stone guesthouses and a tavern. The 
church of the Nativity of the Virgin Mary, 
with an old wood-carved iconostasis, 
dominates in the center of the village. At 
a short distance from the village, in the 
location “Kastri”, there is a fortress com-
plex that has been excavated, around 
which traces of habitation can be found, 
perhaps Oichalia, the capital of the an-
cient Evrytanians. 

The rural settlement of Agia Vlacherna 
near the artificial lake of Kremasta, has 
been inhabited since the early Byzantine 

years. It was then called Chrysoupoli, and then Erkista. 
After 1930, it was renamed Agia Vlacherna, when its in-
habitants working in Constantinople returned. Ruins of an 
ancient castle are found near the settlement. Steni gorge 
is beautiful and definitely is worth a visit. In the location 
Paliogonia at 1700 m. in the mountainous landscape of 
Chelidona , the inhabitants of the area meet every July. 

Sarkini is a small settlement at an altitude of 440 m, south 
of the artificial lake Kremasta. It is a handful of stone hous-
es nestled on the steep slope overlooking Chelidona . 

South of Sarkini, we enter the most secretive unit of vil-
lages of Evrytania. Many valleys descend from the ridge of 
Panaitolikos, where each settlement has a satellite settle-
ment, close to summer pastures.

route 8

Route 8 runs southwest of Karpenisi, between 
Lake Kremasta and Chelidona 

Stefani is a beautiful mountain village at an altitude of 950 
m. Its old name is Goliani and it is known for the battle that 
took place near the settlement, on Livini hill. The hill was 
named after the boatman who defeated the Ottomans in 
this position in 1684.

Perched at 1060 meters, Milia remains almost uninhabit-
ed during the winter, among the mountain peaks. It comes 
to life during the summer when the people of Milia return, 
culminating in the festival on July 20th. Ruined watermills 
and springs are located on the verdant slope around the 
settlement. 

Sella (24 km) is a picturesque village with traditional stone 
houses built in a privileged location at 1030 m on the 
green slopes of Chelidona and with a dumbfounding view 
to Lake Kremasta. 

The peaks of Chelidona
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Στην πρώτη κοιλάδα είναι το Σταυροχώρι, παλιό Δοβί-
τσινο, όνομα που διασώζει το ρέμα που κατεβαίνει από 
το διάσελο, όπου φωλιάζει ο κτηνοτροφικός συνοικι-
σμός Κυνηγού. Σε ύψωμα κοντά στο Δοβίτσινο υπάρχει 
ωραία πέτρινη εκκλησία του Αγίου Νικολάου.

Στην επόμενη κοιλάδα βρίσκεται η Καταβόθρα, πρώην 
Κορίκιστα ή Σύδεδρον. Το σημερινό όνομα του οικισμού 
προέρχεται από την κορυφή Καταβόθρα (1752 μ.) του 
Παναιτωλικού όρους που βρίσκεται στα νότια του χω-
ριού. Συνδεδεμένη με την Καταβόθρα είναι η Αρέντα, 
οικισμός θερινής κατοίκησης σε υψόμετρο 1460 μ

Πίσω στον κεντρικό άσφαλτο, στο δρόμο προς τον 
Προυσό συναντάμε το χωριό Βελωτά, ιδιαίτερη πατρί-
δα του Παύλου Μπακογιάννη. Το σπίτι του, που πρό-
σφατα δώρισε η οικογένεια στο Δήμο, έχει μετατραπεί 
σε μουσείο και Κέντρο Δημοκρατίας.

Από εδώ χωματόδρομος οδηγεί στα Εσωχώρια, μια συ-
στάδα σπιτιών σκορπισμένων πάνω σε πεζούλες που 
τις πολιορκούν τα έλατα. Το χωριό ζωντανεύει κάθε κα-
λοκαίρι από τους καταγόμενους που όπως και σε άλλα 
απομακρυσμένα χωριά της Ευρυτανίας παραμένουν 
πιστοί στο ετήσιο ραντεβού με την ιστορία τους αλλά 
και τα χρώματα, τις μυρωδιές και τα δροσερά νερά της 
ιδιαίτερης πατρίδας τους.

Ψηλότερα στην ίδια κοιλάδα, τα Άνω Εσωχώρια δεν 
συνδέεονται με δρόμο με τα Εσωχώρια αλλά με τον 
Προυσό με τον οποίο παραδοσιακά είχαν στενότερη 
σχέση.

Πίσω πάλι στον κεντρικό ασφαλτόδρομο που ενώνει 
τον Προυσό με την λίμνη των Κρεμαστών για να επισκε-
φθούμε το κεφαλοχώρι της κοιλάδας του Τρικεριώτη, 
τον Ασπρόπυργο. Ένα χωριό με ένα ιδιόμορφο ιστο-
ρικό αλλαγής διοικητικής υπαγωγής από την Αιτωλο-
ακαρνανία στην Ευρυτανία στα τέλη του 19ου και τις 
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Stavrohori, or old Dovitsino, is located in the first valley, 
and got its name from the stream that descends from the 
mountain pass, where the livestock settlement of Kinigos 
nests. On a hill near Dovitsino there is a beautiful stone 
church of Agios Nikolaos.

Katavothra, formerly Korikista or Sidedron, is located in 
the adjacent valley. The current name of the settlement 
comes from the peak Katavothra (1752 m.) of Mount Pa-
naitolikos located in the south of the village. Connected to 
Katavothra is Arenda, a settlement of summer residence 
at an altitude of 1460 meters.

Back to the main paved road, on the way to Prousos, we 
stumble upon the village of Velota, the birthplace of Pav-
los Bakogiannis. His house, recently donated by the family 
to the Municipality, has been turned into a museum and 
Center for Democracy.

From here a dirt road leads to Esohoria, a cluster of hous-
es scattered on terraces besieged by fir trees. The village is 
brought back to life every summer by the natives who, as 
in other remote villages of Evrytania, remain faithful to the 
annual rendezvous with their history, but also the colors, 
scent and waters of their birthplace.

Further north in the same valley, Ano Esohoria is not con-
nected by road with Esohoria, but with Prousos.

Back to the main paved road that connects Prousos with 
the lake of Kremasta to visit Aspropyrgos, the head village 
of the Trikeriotis valley. A village with a peculiar history of 
change of administrative affiliation from Etoloakarnania 
to Evrytania in the late 19th and early 20th century and 
two name changes from Andranova, to Fegovrisi and then 
Aspropyrgos. The village is lively, well taken care of, has 
many permanent residents and an active cultural associa-

tion, which with the help of expatriates from America set 
up an impressive folklore museum with objects of popular 
culture. 
Aspropyrgos is the birthplace of Agios Romanos who mar-
tyred in 1694 in Constantinople. This village was also the 
birthplace of Pelagios, the abbot of the Prousos Monas-
tery, who renovated the monastery’s catholikon in 1752. 
In the village there is an old church built in 1771 and in 
the location “Polemos” there are remains of an old settle-
ment. The landscape has a wild natural beauty.

route 8

The settlement of Fidakia from above

Church in Aspropyrgos



route 9
from Karpenisi 
to Episkopi bridge

Karpenisi
Kalesmeno
Paparousi
Marathia
Anatoliki Fragkista
Dytiki Fragkista
Agios Georgios
Paliochori
Neochori
Episkopi
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East of Tavropos, Paparousi is located at 
a 650 meter altitude in a landscape with 
firs and olive trees. It consists of 2 settle-
ments, the Eastern and Western Papa-
rousi, while the cathedral of Agia Paras-
kevi of 1885 is definitely worth visiting. 

As you continue westwards, you will see 
Marathia, which consists of 4 settle-
ments. Marathias has now few inhabit-
ants, but the traditional stone houses, 
works of local craftsmen, reveal the old 
prosperity of the settlement, when locals 
returned from Constantinople. 
The fort-like architectural elements are 
related to the parameters that led to the 
establishment of the settlement during 
the Turkish occupation, when residents 

from the surrounding areas wanted to be protected from 
looting and other raids. 

West Frangista, formerly known as Mikri Frangista, owes 
its name to the Frangista family that first settled in the 
area during the Turkish occupation. It is located in a green 
landscape with deciduous fruit trees and conifers. 
It is located in a central position in Evrytania and can act 
as a base for a radial exploration of the prefecture. So 
take advantage of the location of the settlement and its 
organized tourist infrastructure. You will find, in addition 
to basic accommodation, many dining options, as well as 
agritourism units, rafting and hiking guides. 
In addition to the picturesque square with monuments 
and cafés, visit the Church of the Nativity of the Virgin 
Mary and the 1898 fountain of Platanos.
Only 4 km from the West Frangista, the Eastern Frangis-
ta, former Great Frangista, is considered one of the most 
beautiful villages of Evrytania, with running waters, wa-
termill, forest, and lush gardens. It is probable that it was 
founded in the 14th century and belongs to the so-called 
“City Villages” as its inhabitants worked and got rich in 

route 9
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Route 9 follows the National Road 38 that con-
nects Lamia with Agrinio, through Karpenisi 
and leaves Evrytania on the bridge of Episkopi. 

From Karpenisi we ascend to Bagasaki, a mountain pass 
between Velouhi and Chelidona. 

The first village we see is Kalesmeno, which despite its 
high altitude (1300 m.) is characterized by a mild climate. 
It consists of many settlements: Monastiraki, Ano Kales-
meno, Kalesmeno, Mesabelia, Roidoula and Aroniada. 
Agios Ioannis Prodromos is the main attraction of the vil-
lage. When you visit, try all berry products, such as liqueur, 
drink and dessert. 

Aroniada is of archaeological interest, hosting the remains 
of an ancient settlement, a mosaic floor of the Byzantine 
era, burial monuments and wall foundations. You can find 
more information on hiking and outdoor activities at the 
tourist booth. Near the iron bridge of Megdova there are 
rafting facilities. 

The bridge of Episkopi on the lake of Kremasta



route 9

Constantinople. It is the birthplace of many personalities, 
such as the MP and Prime Minister, Georgios Kafantaris, 
who is honored every 2 years in the “Kafantaria” fest, the 
lyric poet Dimitris Papadopoulos, known as “Timfristos” 
and Giannakis Frangistas, a comrade-in-arms of Katsan-
tonis. The village’s cathedral, the Twelve Apostles, was 
bombarded during World War II and rebuilt on the same 
site. South of the village, there is the fountain of “Kosmas”, 
whose name is probably associated with the Missionary 
Kosmas of Aetolia, who passed through there. 

In the area there are remains of two old Holy Monasteries 
dating back to the 17th century. In a wonderful location 
with plane trees and a spring, Agia Sotira (Metamorfosi 
Sotiros) with interesting frescoes and Panagia (Assump-
tion of the Virgin Mary) located near the village cemetery. 
Traditionally, one of the largest bazaars in all of Roumeli 
was taking place in Agia Sotira. All the Evrytanians and the 
nomadic cattle breeders of Agrafa went there to sell their 
agricultural products, but also to party and talk shop. The 
bazaar has revived, albeit in a different form, and takes 
place every year on August 17, 18 and 19, attracting a 
large number of pilgrims and merchants. 

If you are looking for the ideal place to see Lake Kremasta 
from above and admire its lacy shore, it is worth making a 
detour to Paleochori. 
Paleochori consists of 2 smaller settlements, Agios Geor-
gios and Neochori. The view is even more impressive from 
the chapel of Prophet Elias. There is another old watermill 
in the area. 

Episkopi is a new settlement that has given its name to 
the impressive bridge of Episkopi. With the creation of the 
lake in 1965-1967, the waters reached as far as Episkopi 
and the old plain and riverside village sank in the waters of 
the lake. The name Episkopi is due to the church of Pana-
gia Episkopi - one of the most important Byzantine mon-
uments in Greece - which was located in the old village. 
This historic church was during the Byzantine years the 

seat of the Diocese of Litza and Agrafa and testifies to the 
importance of the village at that time. It is estimated that 
it was established during the Iconoclasm (8th - 9th centu-
ry). When it was decided to build the artificial lake, exca-
vations were carried out in the temple and three layers of 
frescoes were discovered, of the 8th-9th century, the 11th 
and the 13th. The frescoes were removed and transferred 
to the Byzantine and Christian Museum of Athens, where 
they remain until today. 
The historic temple was lost under the waters of the lake. 
Later, the new church was built, which is located in the 
current village and celebrates on the 15th of August, with 
a large number of people flocking to Episkopi.
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Μόνο 4 χλμ από τη Δυτική Φραγκίστα, η Ανατολική Φρα-
γκίστα, η άλλοτε Μεγάλη Φραγκίστα, θεωρείται ένα από 
τα πιο όμορφα χωριά της Ευρυτανίας, με τρεχούμενα νερά, 
νερόμυλο και νεροτριβή, δασωμένο τοπίο και καταπράσινα 
κηπάκια. Πιθανολογείται ότι ιδρύθηκε τον 14ο αιώνα και 
ανήκει στα λεγόμενα «Πολητοχώρια» καθώς οι κάτοικοι 
της δούλεψαν και πλούτισαν στην Κωσταντινούπολη. Είναι 
η γενέτειρα πολλών προσωπικοτήτων, όπως του βουλευ-
τή και πρωθυπουργού Γεωργίου Καφαντάρη που τιμάται 
κάθε 2 χρόνια στα «Καφαντάρεια», του λυρικού ποιητή 
Δημήτρη Παπαδόπουλου, γνωστού ως «Τυμφρηστός» και 
του Γιαννάκη Φραγκίστα, συμπολεμιστή του Κατσαντώνη. 
Ο καθεδρικός νάος του χωριού, οι Δώδεκα Απόστολοι, κα-
ταστράφηκε από βομβαρδισμούς κατά τον Β’ Παγκόσμιο 
Πόλεμο και ξανακτίστηκε στην ίδια θέση. Νότια του χω-
ριού, υπάρχει η βρύση του «Κοσμά», που το όνομα της πι-
θανόν συνδέεται με τον Ιεραπόστολο Κοσμά Αιτωλό που 
πέρασε από εκεί. 

Στην περιοχή υπάρχουν κατάλοιπα δύο παλαιών Ιερών 
Μονών που χρονολογούνται γύρω στον 17ο αιώνα. Σε 
θαυμάσια τοποθεσία με πλατάνια και πηγή, η Αγία Σω-
τήρα (Μεταμόρφωση Σωτήρος) με τις ενδιαφέρουσες 
τοιχογραφίες και η Παναγία (Κοίμηση της Θεοτόκου) που 
βρίσκεται κοντά στο κοιμητήριο του χωριού. Παραδοσι-
ακά στην Αγία Σωτήρα γινόταν ένα από τα μεγαλύτερα 
παζάρια όλης της Ρούμελης. Εκεί πήγαιναν για να πουλή-
σουν τα αγροτοκτηνοτροφικά προϊόντα τους όλοι οι Ευρυ-
τάνες και οι νομάδες κτηνοτρόφοι των Αγράφων αλλά και 
για να γλεντήσουν και να κλείσουν δουλειές. Το παζάρι 
έχει αναβιώσει, αν και με διαφορετική μορφή, και γίνεται 
κάθε χρόνο στις 17, 18 και 19 Αυγούστου συγκεντρώνο-
ντας μεγάλο αριθμό προσκυνητών και εμπόρων.

Αν ψάχνετε το ιδανικό σημείο για να δείτε τη λίμνη Κρε-
μαστών από ψηλά και να θαυμάσετε την δαντελωτή ακτή 
της, αξίζει μια παράκαμψη προς το Παλαιοχώρι. 
Το Παλαιοχώρι αποτελείται από 2 μικρότερους οικισμούς, 
τον Άγιο Γεώργιο και το Νεοχώρι. Η θέα είναι ακόμα πιο 
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festive events in Kerasohori for the proc-
lamation of the 1821 revolution by Chief 
Kostas Vellis. During the period of the 
National Resistance, the village served as 
the headquarters of ELAS, led by Saran-
dos and Siantos. Political prisoners were 
deported to Kerasohori during the junta 
period.

The old settlement of Krenti was aban-
doned due to the devastating earthquake 
of 1966, leading to the founding of the 
new settlement we see today. Nea Krenti 
is a settlement located at a central point, 
has tourist infrastructure and is the en-
trance to Agrafa (see route 10).

Tsoukka is a lowland village of Evrytania 
at an altitude of 440m. Higher, near the settlement of Ano 
Tsoukka, at the top of Kastro hill, there is an ancient for-
tress. 

Tripotamos, on the western shores of the artificial lake 
Kremasta at an altitude of 550m., was until 1928 known 
as Tatarna. Near Tripotamos lies the historic monastery 
of Tatarna that has offered much to Orthodoxy, and the 
struggle for national independence. It was a refuge for fa-
mous fighters, such as the local hero Katsantonis, Diplas 
and Karaiskakis. The history of the Monastery of Tatarna 
begins at the beginning of the 12th century with the dis-
covery of the Holy Icon. The first monastery was built on 
the site where the icon was found, but in the 14th cen-
tury the monastery was destroyed. However, in 1555 two 
monks, Methodius and David, rebuilt the Holy Monas-
tery. The treaty of Tsamasio, which had been signed a few 
years before (1546), and gave a relative independence to 
Armatoliki of Agrafa, also helped in this. A year later, in 
1556, the Ecumenical Patriarch Dionysios proclaimed the 
monastery Stavropegian and patriarchal with a saved until 
today sigillion. In this sigillion the monastery is called Pa-

route 10

This route moves westwards to the artificial lake 
of Kremasta that was created in 1965, after the 
construction of the dam of Kremasta, from the 
waters of the rivers Acheloos, Agrafiotis, Tavro-
pos and Trikeriotis. It is the largest artificial lake 
in Greece with an area of 80 square kilometers. 

Kerasohori -former Kerasovo- is located in a key geograph-
ical position and is the first settlement of our route. This 
mountain village at an altitude of 1140 m. is famous for 
its healthy climate. Northwest of the settlement is the 
Karaouli rock, which in the earlier years on the night of 
the Resurrection was turned into “Fano” as they set fire to 
piles of wood. The central church of the village of the 18th 
century is worth a visit. In the village there are many old 
mansions although some are now abandoned. Traces of 
an ancient settlement and a wall have been found at Kas-
traki near the settlement. The fighter Kostas Vellis raised 
the banner of the revolution, in May 1821, on the Keraso-
vitis river. In mid-May, the municipality of Agrafa organizes 
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Tripotamos and monastery of Tatarna



nagia Faneromeni. Katsantonis donated to the monastery 
a silver candelabra that is kept in the great heirloom of the 
Monastery. Unfortunately in 1963, due to a large landslide 
in the area, the monastery suffered great damage and was 
later rebuilt in a nearby area where it still dominates to-
day, receiving pilgrims from all over Greece. 

The new bridge of Tatarna is located on one of the roads 
that connect Evrytania with Etoloakarnania. Nearby lies 
the historic bridge of Tatarna, where in 1821 the first bat-
tle of the Greeks of Roumeli against the Turks took place. 
The bridge was single-aisled and probably built in the 17th 
century. At the beginning of the 17th century, the stone 
single-arched bridge of Manolis was built, and for more 
than 400 years connected the two banks of Agrafiotis. Af-
ter the creation of the lake, sometimes it sinks and some-
times it emerges due to its location.

Chrysova is a settlement nestled in green landscapes and 
against the backdrop of Lake Kremasta. The church of 
Saints Constantine and Helen is located in the center of 
the village. The cliff “Hole of Tatarna” is located near the 
settlement. 

Sivista was also covered by the artificial lake of Kremas-
ta. The settlement was re-established in Pratovouni, while 
most of the inhabitants moved to other areas. The name 
Sivista has been recorded since the 10th century. Near the 
settlement, where once there was a hill, an islet named Ai 
Nikolas was created in the lake of Kremasta, where there 
are ruins of the castle of Karolos Tokkos of the 15th cen-
tury. Tombs and other evidence suggest that the castle is 
founded on an ancient fortress. 

Velaora spreads in an area with low vegetation and succes-
sive hills. The family of the poet Aristotle Valaoritis came 
from Velaora before moving to Lefkada. It is worth seeing 
the panoramic view to Lake Kremasta from the chapel of 
Prophet Elias and the bridge of Velaora, which is built on 
Granitsiotis river.

North of Velaora is the Gorge of Bouzounikos, which is 
linked to many beliefs and superstitions of the area and 
with a wonderful view of Granitsiotis river.

Paleokatouna is a relatively new settlement that was 
founded after the earthquake of 1966 and the disasters 
in the old village of Botsiani. The settlements of Eloula, 

Metochi, Keramidario, Tsapes, 
Ampares and Lefka also belong 
to Paleokatouna. Northwest of 
Paleokatouna there is a forest-
ed hill with the remains of an 
ancient fortress, at the foot of 
which there is a spring. Maybe 
there was an ancient settlement 
here. Further to the west, in a 
picturesque location with centu-
ries-old oaks and elms, we see a 
restored church of the old mon-
astery of Agios Ioannis.

Our route ends in Kefalovryso, old Sychniko, a settlement 
of Agrafa that belongs to the community of Monastira-
ki, with which it is connected by a inaccessible mountain 
road, suitable for 4x4s. Near the village is the “Cave of 
Katsantonis”, where the Turkalvans caught Kleftis who was 
“seriously ill and without weapons” in 1809 and led him 
at the end of August in Ioannina, where he died a martyr.
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που είχε υπογραφεί λίγα χρόνια πριν (1546) και έδωσε 
μια σχετική ανεξαρτησία στο Αρματωλίκι των Αγράφων. 
Ένα χρόνο αργότερα, το 1556, ο Οικουμενικός Πατριάρ-
χης Διονύσιος, με σωζόμενο σιγίλιο ανακήρυξε τη μονή 
σταυροπηγιακή και πατριαρχική. Στο σιγίλιο αυτό η μονή 
ονομάζεται Παναγία Φανερωμένη. Ο Κατσαντώνης δώ-
ρισε στο μοναστήρι ένα ασημένιο καντήλι που φυλάσσε-
ται στη σπουδαία κειμηλιοθήκη της Μονής. Δυστυχώς το 
1963, λόγω μεγάλης κατολίσθησης στην περιοχή, η μονή 
υπέστη μεγάλες καταστροφές και αργότερα ξαναχτίστηκε 
σε κοντινό σημείο όπου δεσπόζει μέχρι και σήμερα, δεχό-
μενη προσκυνητές από όλη την Ελλάδα. 

Η νέα γέφυρα της Τατάρνας βρίσκεται πάνω σ’ έναν από 
τους οδικούς άξονες που συνδέουν την Ευρυτανία με την 
Αιτωλοακαρνανία. Εκεί κοντά βρισκόταν το ιστορικό γε-
φύρι της Τατάρνας, όπου δόθηκε το 1821 η πρώτη μάχη 
των Ελλήνων της Ρούμελης εναντίον των Τούρκων. Το γε-
φύρι ήταν μονοκάμαρο και πιθανόν χτισμένο τον 17ο αι-
ώνα. Στις αρχές του 17ου αιώνα χτίστηκε και το πέτρινο 
μονότοξο γεφύρι του Μανώλη που για περισσότερα από 
400 χρόνια συνέδεε τις δύο όχθες του Αγραφιώτη. Μετά 
τη δημιουργία της λίμνης άλλοτε βυθίζεται κι άλλοτε ανα-
δύεται λόγω της θέσης του.

Η Χρύσοβα είναι ένας οικισμός φωλιασμένος μέσα σε 
καταπράσινα τοπία και με φόντο το γαλάζιο της λίμνης 
Κρεμαστών. Στο κέντρο του χωριού βρίσκεται ο ναός των 
Αγίων Κωνσταντίνου και Ελένης. Κόντα στον οικισμό εντο-
πίζεται το βάραθρο «Τρύπα της Τατάρνας». 

Η Σιβίστα σκεπάστηκε κι αυτή από την τεχνητή λίμνη Κρε-
μαστών. Ο οικισμός επανιδρύθηκε στη θέση Πρατοβού-
νι ενώ οι περισσότεροι κάτοικοι μετακινήθηκαν σε άλλες 
περιοχές. Η ονομασία Σιβίστα καταγράφεται από τον 10ο 
αιώνα. Κοντά στον οικισμό, εκεί που κάποτε ήταν ύψωμα, 
δημιουργήθηκε ένα νησάκι μέσα στη λίμνη Κρεμαστών, 
ο Αϊ Νικόλας, και υπάρχουν τα ερείπια κάστρου του Κά-
ρολου Τόκκου του 15ου αιώνα. Τάφοι και άλλες ενδείξεις 

διαδρομή 10

75

route 10

Bouzounikou Gorge



Krentis
Voulpi
Limeri
Granitsa
Lithochori
Raptopoulo
Prasia
Kedra
Lepania
Topoliana
Neo Argyri

route 11
to Aperantios  
and Acheloos



78

Granitsa is a mountainous settlement at 
an altitude of 850 meters in a green land-
scape, next to the banks of Granitsiotis 
river. The stone houses and the fountains 
compose the traditional physiognomy of 
the settlement. Once the village was so 
big that it had 17 churches, today only 9 
survive. The folklore museum of Granit-
sa has 3 rooms, the first of which hous-
es exhibits-souvenirs and objects of folk 
art, while the next two have books and 
personal items of the scholars of Granit-
sa, Zacharias Papantoniou and Stefanos 
Granitsas. On the hill called Aetofolia 
there are remains of a pre-Christian for-
tress. In the village every year, in Novem-
ber, there is a tsipouro festival. Granitsa 
includes many settlements, including 

Ano Potamia where there is a unique location “Platanias”, 
something like “property of the plane trees”. Here each 
plane tree corresponds to a family. A particularly good 
location for the festival of the 15th of August, when the 
locals meet in the church of the Assumption of the Virgin 
Mary. Other settlements are Kato Potamia, Armabela and 
Magganaria. 

Lithochori, that was once called Beltsista, is built at an alti-
tude of 910 meters. It includes the settlements of Stavros, 
Platanos and Panagia. The settlement of Stavros owes its 
name to the big cross located at the entrance of the vil-
lage, reminding of Kosmas of Aetolia passing through. In 
the settlement of Panagia there is the church of the As-
sumption of the Virgin Mary, as well as the old chapel of 
Agios Nikolaos.

route 11

This route runs between western Agrafa and 
Acheloos, in the territories of the old municipal-
ities of Aspropotamos and Aperantia. 

After Krentis and Paleokatouna (see Route 10) we find 
Voulpi already mentioned in documents of 1790. It was 
then known as Kista. During the Turkish occupation, it suf-
fered severe damage from the Ottomans, as fighters found 
refuge in the village and had made it their base. Voulpi 
was the birthplace of the politician and minister under 
Trikoupis, Dimitrios Voulpiotis. Just outside the settle-
ment, in the location “Agios Thomas”, there are remains of 
the ancient wall and a settlement that may be identified 
with the ancient capital of Agraia. 

Limeri or, with its older name, Koniavi is a scenic village 
at an altitude of 780 meters. Its name is connected with 
the life and activity of Katsantonis, as near the village in 
the place “Fourka” is the cave-shelter of the fighter of the 
pre-revolution period. Limeri has 7 churches, the most fa-
mous of which is Agia Varvara. 
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The bridge of Templa in Acheloos



Lepiana is built on the slopes of Mount Tsouka, at 700 
meters, amidst fir and chestnut trees and includes the 
settlements of Agios Vlasios, Varka, Selista, Piresi and Har-
vala. The church of Agioi Anargyroi in the center of the 
village was believed to have housed a miraculous icon of 
the Saints in whose honor a large festival takes place on 
November 1st. To the south of the settlement there is an 
ancient settlement, a castle and an ancient cemetery. 

The stone bridge of Templa, on the Acheloos river, was 
built in 1915 by Italian engineers. It facilitated the villages 
of the area, as it allowed the communication between the 
villages of Valtos and those of Evrytania. Its name comes 
from the previous bridge which was wooden. Near the 
bridge, there is the chapel of Agios Dimitrios, an old part 
of the monastery of the same name of the 17th century, 
which in 1823 was set on fire by the pasha of Skondra. 

Topoliana is built at an altitude of 480 meters and includes 
the settlements of Kastraki, Agios Georgios, Paraplati and 
Virnikos. Near the hill of Agia Paraskevi there are traces 
of an ancient fortress. Similar traces of a fort exist near 
the settlement of Kastraki at the junction of Acheloos with 
Granitsiotis. 

Neo Argyri is the last village on the northwestern border 
of Evrytania. It is built on the east bank of Acheloos, at 
an altitude of 450 meters. It was established at the end 
of the 18th century by inhabitants coming from Argyri in 
Argithea, who originally spent their winters here. Near the 
settlement of Dafnoula or Aravia, there are remains of an 
ancient fortress.

route 11

Raptopoulo, the head village and commercial hub of 
the region, between the peaks of Fteri, Tsouka and Kri, 
consists of many small settlements, mainly livestock. In 
Vlacheika there is still the old watermill of Vlachos while 
further north in the stream of Prasia or Potisti there are 
abandoned watermills. Outside the village, visit Krevatia, 
the alpine meadows where the herds graze in summer. In 
mid-August, there is a festival in Raptopoulos, dedicated 
to the revival of the traditional way of life. From Raptopou-
los there are many hiking routes to the surrounding peaks. 

Prasia got its name from the stepped terraces, which 
shape the landscape and allow cultivation on the down-
hill slopes around the settlement. Prasia consists of many 
settlements, Fousiana, Vasilesi, Kyparissi, Prodromos and 
Metaxades. The name Metaxades is related to the culti-
vation of silk. There are interesting religious monuments 
of the 17th century in Metaxades, such as the church of 
the Nativity of Christ, the church of Agios Nikolaos and the 
Assumption of the Virgin Mary. The central settlement is 
dominated by a centuries-old cypress tree of Kosmas of 
Aetolia, 35 meters high, with a perimeter of 7 meters, 
which is considered a natural monument and today is 
protected. It also has historical and religious significance 
for Greece, since Kosmas of Aetolia prophesied about the 
cypress that “if it dries from the top, Greece will be liber-
ated, if it dries from its root, Greece will not be liberated”. 
Even today, its dried top stands out. Near the settlement 
of Vasilesi, traces of an ancient settlement were found, 
along with findings that may be related to the capital of 
the ancient Agraia. Near Vasilesi there are two 17th centu-
ry chapels, Agios Athanasios and Agios Dimitrios. 

Kedra, formerly Horigovo, is located at an altitude of 700 
meters, below impressive rock formations.Near Kedra lies 
the gorge of Parga with plane tree forests. The village is 
famous for its wine and tsipouro, as well as for the tradi-
tional dance, “Mazochtos” or “Kleisto”. 
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Το Ραπτόπουλο, κεφαλοχώρι και εμπορικό κέντρο της 
περιοχής, ανάμεσα στις κορυφές Φτέρη, Τσούκα και Κρι, 
αποτελείται από πολλούς μικρούς οικισμούς, κυρίως κτη-
νοτροφικούς. Στα Βλαχέικα υπάρχει ακόμα ο παλιός νε-
ρόμυλος του Βλάχου ενώ βορειότερα στο ρέμα της Πρα-
σιάς ή Ποτιστή υπάρχουν εγκατελειμμένοι νερόμυλοι. 
Έξω από το χωριό, επισκεφθείτε τα Κρεβάτια, τα αλπικά 
λιβάδια όπου βοσκούν τα κοπάδια το καλοκαίρι. Στα μέσα 
Αυγούστου γίνεται καθιερωμένη γιορτή στο Ραπτόπουλο 
με θέμα την αναβίωση του παραδοσιακού τρόπου ζωής. 
Από το Ραπτόπουλο ξεκινούν πεζοπορικές διαδρομές για 
τις γύρω κορυφές. 

Η Πρασιά πήρε το όνομα της από τις κλιμακωτές πεζούλες, 
τις πρασιές όπως τις λένε οι ντόπιοι, που διαμορφώνουν 
το τοπίο και επιτρέπουν την καλλιέργεια στις κατά τα άλλα 
κατηφορικές πλαγιές γύρω από τον οικισμό. Η Πρασιά 
αποτελείται από πολλούς οικισμούς, Φουσιανά, Βασιλέσι, 
Κυπαρίσσι, Πρόδρομο και Μεταξάδες. Το όνομα Μεταξά-
δες σχετίζεται με την καλλιέργεια του μεταξιού. Υπάρχουν 
στους Μεταξάδες ενδιαφέροντα θρησκευτικά μνημεία 
του 17ου αιώνα, όπως ο ναός της Γέννησης του Χριστού, 
ο ναός του Αγίου Νικολαόυ και η Κοίμηση της Θεοτόκου. 
Στον κεντρικό οικισμό δεσπόζει το υπεραιωνόβιο κυπαρίσ-
σι του Κοσμά του Αιτωλού, ύψους 35 μ., με περίμετρο 7 μ., 
που θεωρείται μνημείο της φύσης και σήμερα προστατεύ-
εται. Έχει επίσης  ιστορικής και θρησκευτική  σημασία για 
την Ελλάδα, αφού ο Κοσμάς ο Αιτωλός προφήτεψε για το 
κυπαρίσσι ότι «αν ξεραθεί από την κορυφή του, η Ελλάδα 
θα ελευθερωθεί, αν ξεραθεί από την ρίζα του, η Ελλάδα 
δεν θα ελευθερωθεί». Ακόμη και σήμερα ξεχωρίζει η ξερα-
μένη κορυφή του. Κοντά στον οικισμό Βασιλέσι, βρέθηκαν 
ίχνη αρχαίου οικισμού και ευρήματα που ίσως σχετίζονται 
με την πρωτεύουσα των αρχαίων Αγραίων. Κοντά στο Βα-
σιλέσι υπάρχουν δύο ξωκκλήσια του 17ου αιώνα, ο Άγιος 
Αθανάσιος και ο Άγιος Δημήτριος. 
 
Τα Κέδρα, πρώην Χορίγκοβο, βρίσκεται σε υψόμετρο 700 
μ., κάτω από εντυπωσιακούς βραχώδεις σχηματισμούς. 
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Κοντά στα Κέδρα βρίσκεται και το φαράγγι της Πάργας με 
δάση από Πλατάνια. Το χωριό είναι φημισμένο για το κρα-
σί και το τσίπουρό του, καθώς και για τον παραδοσιακό 
χορό, τον «Μαζωχτό» ή «Κλειστό».

Τα Λεπιανά είναι  χτισμένα στις πλαγιές του όρους Τσού-
κα, στα 700 μ. ανάμεσα σε έλατα και καστανιές και συμπε-
ριλαμβάνουν τους οικισμούς Άγιο Βλάσιο, Βαρκά, Σελίστα, 
Πιρέσι και Χαρβαλά. Στην πλατεία του χωριού βρίσκεται η 
εκκλησία των Αγίων Αναργύρων, που πιστεύεται ότι στε-
γάζει θαυματουργή εικόνα των Αγίων προς τιμή των οποί-
ων γίνεται μεγάλο πανηγύρι την 1η Νοεμβρίου. Στα νότια 
του οικισμού υπάρχει αρχαίος οικισμός, κάστρο και αρχαίο 
νεκροταφείο.

Η πέτρινη γέφυρα της Τέμπλας, στον Αχελώο ποταμό, 
χτίστηκε το 1915 απο Ιταλούς μηχανικούς. Ανακούφισε τα 
χωριά της περιοχής καθώς έπετρεψε την επικοινωνία ανά-
μεσα στα χωριά του Βάλτου και εκείνα της Ευρυτανίας. Το 
όνομά του προέρχεται από το προηγούμενο γεφύρι που 
ήταν ξύλινο, ή αλλιώς «τέμπλα». Κοντά στη γέφυρα, βρί-
σκεται το ξωκκλήσι του Αγίου Δημητρίου παλιό μετόχι της 
ομώνυμης μονής του17ου αιώνα που το 1823 πυρπολήθη-
κε απο τον πασά της Σκόνδρας. 

Τα Τοπόλιανα είναι χτισμένα σε υψόμετρο 480 μ. και περι-
λαμβάνουν τους οικισμούς Καστρακίου, Αγίου Γεωργίου, 
Παράπλατη και Βίρνικου. Κόντα στο λόφο της Αγίας Πα-
ρασκευής υπάρχουν ίχνη αρχαίου οχυρού. Αντίστοιχα ίχνη 
οχυρού υπάρχουν κοντά στον οικισμό Καστράκι στη συμ-
βολή του Αχελώου με τον Γρανιτσιώτη ποταμό.

Το Νέο Αργύρι είναι το τελευατίο χωριό στο βορειοδυτι-
κό σύνορο της Ευρυτανίας. Είναι χτισμένο στην ανατολική 
όχθη του Αχελώου, σε υψόμετρο 450 μ. Δημιουργήθηκε 
στα τέλη του 18ου αιώνα από κάτοικους που προέρχονταν 
από το Αργύρι της Αργιθέας, οι οποίοι αρχικά είχαν εδώ 
τα χειμαδιά τους. Κοντά στον οικισμό Δαφνούλα ή Αραβιά 
υπάρχουν κατάλοιπα αρχαίου φρουρίου. 



route 12

in the famous Agrafa

Krenti
Monastiraki
Marathos
Agrafa
Epiniana
Tridendro
Vragiana
Trovato
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route 12

Route 12 will bring us to the famous Agrafa, a 
backdrop of airy ridges and deep ravines, with 
small settlements scattered in the inhospitable 
relief. A place where people survived thanks to 
the endurance of the goat, the strength of the 
donkeys and the courage of their souls.

Roads entered the Agrafiotis valley after 1985 and the road 
network remains largely dirt. The entrance is from a closed 
turn of the road shortly after the settlement of Krenti.

The road to Marathos, former Myrisi, Katsantonis’ birth-
place, deviates on the Varvariada bridge. The village with 
the small houses with the tiled roofs has Taxiartchis as its 
patron, a church built in 1591 with frescoes. In mid-June 
every year the “Katsantonia” are celebrated here. In the 
surrounding area there is a large waterfall called Souda 
(near the deserted settlement of Paliochori). 

Back in the valley of Agrafiotis and a few 
kilometers to the north, a narrow and 
winding paved road leads to the beauti-
ful Monastiraki, where there are several 
important churches, the Assumption of 
the Virgin Mary, Agios Georgios in Kastro, 
Agios Dimitrios and Prophet Elias. A ref-
erence point for Monastiraki is the hero 
Katsantonis. In his honor there is a rep-
resentation of his arrest by the Turks in 
the cave of the same name, taking place 
in the first ten days of August (see Route 
10, Sychniko). At the beginning of the 
road to Sychniko there are ruins of an old 
watermill, powered by the waters of the 
torrent, while at a short distance from 
the village, in the Monastirakioti stream, 

there is an old stone High Bridge. Near the junction of the 
Fteri stream with Agrafiotis there is the “Agrafiotis Hole”, 
an underwater gallery with stalactites in the riverbed, 30 
m long. 

Higher in the valley of Agrafiotis, the road splits. The east-
ern road ascends to the village of Agrafa, the old seat of 
the Municipality of Agrafa, built on a plateau below the 
Koukourountzo peak. Agrafa includes the settlements of 
Kamaria, Niala, Saika, Paramerita, Gavrolisiada, Hontaika, 
Blo, Varsoi and Mikra. Kamaria and Niala are inhabited in 
the summer by Sarakatsani cattle breeders, while some 
others are uninhabited. In the center of the village there 
is a large paved square with centuries-old plane trees and 
fountains. The churches of Agios Dimitrios (built in 1900), 
who is also the patron saint of the village, Agios Georgios 
of 1610 and the church of Panagia of 1600, at a height of 
980 meters, in the village watchtower, are all worth a vis-
it. Agrafa was burned in 1942 by the Italians and the only 
surviving building is the old Town Hall.

Agrafa and the mountain peaks of Pindos
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Ακολουθώντας το δρόμο προς Επινιανά, αντικρίζεις ψηλά 
στο βράχο μοναστήρι, που ξεχωρίζει από μακριά με τον κί-
τρινο τρούλο της εκκλησίας του. Είναι η μονή της Παναγίας 
της Στάνας, των μέσων του 17ου αιώνα. Στο εσωτερικό του 
ναού διασώζεται μικρό αλλά θαυμάσιας τέχνης ξυλόγλυπτο 
τέμπλο. Οι εικόνες τόσο του τέμπλου όσο και αυτές του ναού 
είναι έργα ντόπιων αγιογράφων της Βυζαντινής Σχολής των 
Αγράφων. Η εκκλησία γιορτάζει στις 7 και τις 8 Σεπτεμβρίου.

Τα Επινιανά (ή Πιγκιανά στην τοπική διάλεκτο), είναι χωριό 
κτηνοτρόφων, χτισμένο σε υψόμετρο 1.050 μ. στις πλαγιές 
της Φτέρης των Δυτικών Αγράφων. Το χωριό διαθέτει ξενώ-
να και εστιατόρια. Στο κέντρο του δεσπόζει η εκκλησία του 
Αγίου Γεωργίου. Στα Επινιανά ανήκουν οι τρεις μικρότεροι 
οικισμοί, Φτέρη, Ανηφόρα και Ασπρόρεμα.  

Πίσω στον Αγραφιώτη με κατεύθυνση τα Βραγγιανά περνά-
με κάτω από το Τρίδεντρο (πρώην Βελισδόνι) επίσης χωριό 
κτηνοτρόφων και γενέτειρα του Νίκου Βελισδονίτη, μαθητή 
του Ευγένιου Γιαννούλη, ο οποίος σπούδασε ιατρική στην 
Ιταλία και διατέλεσε γιατρός του Σουλτάνου, τον 17ο αιώνα.

Πιο βόρεια ο δρόμος πάλι διχάζεται και δεξιά οδηγεί στα Βραγ-
γιανά, γνωστά και ως Μεγάλα Βραγγιανά. Μεγάλη είναι και η  
ιστορία του χωριού με το «Ελληνομουσείο», τη σχολή 
των 3.000 μαθητών όπου δίδαξαν ο Ευγένιος Γιαννού-

  ΠΕΖΟΠΟΡΙΚΗ ∆ΙΑ∆ΡΟΜΗ
Άγραφα - Νιάλα, (7 χλµ, 3 ώρες) 
Η διαδροµή ξεκινάει από το χωριό Άγραφα. Ανηφορί-
ζουµε σε χωµατόδροµο και πολύ σύντοµα συναντάµε 
πινακίδα προς Άγιο Νικόλαο. Εκεί αρχίζουµε να κινού-
µαστε σε καλοδιατηρηµένο µονοπάτι µέσα σε ελατό-
δασος µέχρι την πηγή και χωµατόδροµο Από εκεί και 
πάνω περπατάµε σε γυµνό τοπίο, µε καταπληκτική 
θέα. Το µονοπάτι εξακολουθεί να είναι σαφές, απαιτεί-
ται όµως προσοχή σε κάποια σηµεία που περνάει πάνω 
από εκτεθειµένες σάρες. Καταλήγουµε στο οροπέδιο 
της Νιάλας, όπου συναντάµε µνηµείο του εµφυλίου.  
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Following the road to Epiniana, there is a monastery atop 
the hill that stands out from afar with its yellow dome. It 
is the monastery of Panagia Stana, built in the mid-17th 
century. Inside the church there is a small, but magnificent 
wood-carved iconostasis. The icons of both the iconostasis 
and those of the church are works of local hagiographers 
of the Byzantine School of Agrafa. The church celebrates 
on September 7 and 8.

Epiniana (or Pigkiana in the local dialect) is a village of cat-
tle breeders, built at an altitude of 1,050 meters on the 
slopes of Fteri of Western Agrafa. The village has a guest-
house and restaurants. The church of Agios Georgios dom-
inates in the center. Epiniana includes the three smallest 
settlements, Fteri, Anifora and Asprorema. 

Back to Agrafiotis, in the direction of Vraggiana, we pass 
under Tridentro (former Velisdoni), also a village of cattle 
breeders and the birthplace of Nikos Velisdonitis, a stu-
dent of Eugenios Giannoulis, who studied medicine in Italy 
and was the Sultan’s doctor in the 17th century.

Further north, the road splits again and leads to the right 
to Braggiana, also known as Megala Braggiana. The histo-
ry of the village with the “Hellenic Museum”, the school of 
3,000 students, where Eugenios Giannoulis of Aetolia and

and Anastasios Gordios taught. Two ecumenical patriarchs 
and twenty bishops graduated from this school. In the set-
tlements of Braggiana there are several important church-
es, such as Agia Paraskevi dated back to 1648.

The last village of Agrafa is Trovato and is built in a more 
fertile and mild place. Mountain Delidimi, which is 2163 
meters high, is the natural border between Thessalian and 
Evrytanian Agrafa. In the summer it hosts nomad breeders.

route 12

HIKING ROUTE 
Agrafa - Niala, (7 km, 3 hours) 
The route starts from the village of Agrafa. We go up on 
a dirt road and very soon we see a sign to Agios Nikolaos. 
Moving on a well-preserved path in a fir forest up to the 
fountain and then a dirt road, and from there we walk in 
a bare landscape, with amazing views. The trail is still clear, 
but caution is required at some points that pass over 
exposed swamps. We end up on the plateau of Niala, where 
we see a monument of the civil war.

  

Monastery of Panagia Stana
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